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  INTRODUCTION




  Biographies of Napoleon can be weighed by the hundredweight. Yet there are curiously few recent attempts at an entire history of the revolutionary and Napoleonic wars, the

  colossal and protracted global struggle that convulsed all of Europe for nearly a quarter of a century. This book is an attempt to address that void: it is an unashamedly ‘general’

  rather than scholastic work, written for a wide audience. A broad brush inevitably obscures detail, but no scholastic work could possibly do justice to that great struggle without running into a

  dozen volumes. My aim has been to provide a giant and vivid canvas on which to depict these globe-bestriding, world-changing events for the general reader, providing new insights and drawing on

  many widely neglected accounts. It is for the reader to judge whether I have succeeded.




  According to Napoleon, history is a myth that men agree to believe. The revolutionary and Napoleonic wars are usually divided into two rich mythologies: the first is that of Napoleon the monster

  who inflicted years of suffering and slaughter across Europe, precursor to the worst tyrannies in the twentieth century; the second that of Napoleon the genius and modernizer who liberated Europe

  from decrepit feudal absolutism and endowed the continent with modern laws, national self-respect, and bourgeois progress. Both of these are predicated on the ultimate Napoleonic myth: his

  omnipotence, as powerful through the ages as the identification of Julius Caesar’s power with that of ancient Rome. Both owe as much to historical propaganda as to Napoleon’s vanity and

  his determination to write history solely in terms of his own extraordinary personality.




  Napoleon’s is the dominant personality in the events of this book, primarily from 1799 to 1815. But the mythology is, to say the least, extravagant with the truth. The

  revolutionary wars from 1792 to 1802 were as significant and dangerous to Britain and Europe as the Napoleonic phase, from 1803 to 1815. Men like Dumouriez and Carnot, now largely forgotten, first

  created the military machine which Napoleon later piloted. Napoleon’s command over his generals, his ministers and France as a whole was more circumscribed than many people today believe. His

  military successes were often close-run and short-lived, and his hubris brought about defeat at Waterloo in 1815.




  This book attempts to outline what really happened during the frenzied quarter of a century when Britain, having carved out a global empire and dazzled the world with its inventiveness and

  industrial revolution, seemed on the verge of being invaded and devastated, as so much of continental Europe had been already.




  In 1788 Europe was peaceful and prosperous. There was little sign that anything would disturb the tranquility of the settled alliances between its seven great powers and the

  host of lesser princedoms. In Britain alone was the monarchy little more than a façade for rule by a parliament dominated by factions, commercial interests and, in the still-powerful House

  of Lords, the aristocracy. While the humdrum and egotistical George III had prestige and influence, he did not rule. Britain had recently suffered the grievous loss of its rebellious, although

  small and comparatively poor, North American colonies, but still presided over a far-flung and growing global empire.




  Elsewhere in Europe, royal absolutism held sway, usually centralized around a royal court. The most powerful of these was the magnificent monarchy of France, where the tall, fair-haired,

  snub-nosed and acerbically intelligent King Louis XVI presided over fabulous Bourbon Versailles, with palaces so large that they bristled with whole villages of intriguing, cavorting and amorous

  courtiers. The King was married to a haughty Austrian princess, Marie Antoinette, cementing France’s alliance of convenience with the other greatest dynasty in Europe, that of Austria’s

  ruling Habsburgs. France was Britain’s great continental rival, having just lost the Seven Years War, then outwitted the British during the American War of Independence.

  Although the two nations were currently at peace, Franco-British trade, naval and military rivalry continued to be played out across the globe, from India to the West Indies.




  France’s greatest continental ally and rival was Austria-Hungary, a polyglot empire that dominated northern Italy, the Balkans, and most of eastern Europe. Its Emperor, presiding over a

  court at Vienna second only to France’s in its extravagance and beauty, was soon to be the indecisive, garrulous Francis II. To the north, completing the trio of great nations that dominated

  the central massif of the European continent was Prussia. A newly emergent and aggressive military power under Frederick the Great, threatening the host of German principalities and buffer states

  between itself and France, it was now at peace with its neighbours, and ruled by the weak and vacillating Frederick William.




  To the south-east lay the declining power of the Turkish Ottoman empire, still ruling a vast swathe of the Middle East but long incapable of challenging a major European nation, hundreds of

  years after the great Saracen offensives had petered out. The Ottomans’ very weakness posed a threat to Europe simply by offering a tempting vacuum to others, in particular the

  quasi-barbarian power to the north, Catherine the Great’s Russia, which was embarked on a policy of imperial expansion that seemed to pose the greatest threat to European stability. This

  strong-willed, shrewd and capricious woman had long ruled with great firmness. Now her reign was coming to an end, and the paranoid, half-insane Tsar Paul was to provide an unhappy interregnum

  before the accession of his strange son and probable murderer, Alexander, a young man of almost feminine beauty who alternated visionary ideas with religious fanaticism.




  Finally, to the south-west was the seventh great power, now in decline but possessed of an overseas empire of fabulous wealth. Over the centuries shipments of silver to Spain had served to

  corrode the country’s warior ruling class. Spain was ruled by a decent but vacuous Bourbon king, Charles IV, his lascivious wife Maria Luisa and her opportunist lover, Manuel Godoy. The

  monarchs were to be succeeded by their brutal and reactionary son, Ferdinand VII.




  These were the seven great powers of Europe, all of them absolute monarchies save one, Britain, which was a republican oligarchy in all but name. Three of them were strong and

  entrenched across the prosperous heartland of central Europe; the two in the south were in advanced stages of decline, while Russia in the east was regarded as primitive and potentially predatory

  to its Baltic neighbours in the north and the Ottoman empire in the south.




  The rest of Europe was carved into a host of lesser monarchies, princelings and duchies. Sweden, Saxony, Bavaria, Portugal, the Kingdom of the Two Sicilies, Parma and Piedmont were its most

  significant states, most of them satellites gravitating around the orbit of the greater powers. The Pope presided as Europe’s greatest spiritual prince, with his own fiefdom in central Italy,

  although Catholicism was under challenge from northern Protestantism. It seemed an apparently unbreakable façade of monarchical absolutism, locked in alliances, rivalries and dynastic

  marriages, presiding over a continent as peaceful and well ordered as at any time in its turbulent history.




  In 1789 the very centrepiece of this intricate structure of peace and prosperity, Louis XVI’s court at Versailles, cracked and was soon shattered into a thousand pieces. In its place there

  emerged first an elitist struggle for power, then an uncontrolled mob, and then the massed formations of brutally disciplined armies the like and size of which had never been seen before to pour

  over France’s borders in a frenzy of uncontrolled warfare, initially in defence of the Revolution, then to promote its ideals, finally in torrents of outright aggression and conquest.




  Within the space of a couple of years, Europe was plunged into one of the largest and longest wars of its history that was to last the best part of a quarter of a century and threaten to

  overturn the entire social order of monarchy and aristocratic rule and place the continent in the grip of a single militarist nation. With vast conscript armies moving at unprecedented speed and

  overwhelming force against the parade-ground armies of Europe with their aristocratic officers and traditional military tactics, it seemed that the militarist juggernaut would sweep all before it.

  The continent was plunged into a seemingly endless confrontation which ravaged whole countries from Spain and Italy in the south to Belgium in the north-west, to Prussia and into

  Russia in the east, to Austria in the centre.




  It was as though a volcano had erupted at the heart of Europe, belching out destruction and threatening everything in its path. It was to be perhaps the biggest bloodbath in European history,

  killing millions, levelling and looting, obliterating the livelihoods and homes of entire nations. This was the birth of the modern age of mass politics, revolution and total warfare, the

  foreshadower of the destructive wars of the twentieth century.




  Although he was only a secondary player during the first phase of the revolutionary war until 1800, the carnage became associated eventually with the single man who to his friends and enemies

  alike seemed to incarnate the spirit of that unstoppable, relentless war machine, Napoleon Bonaparte. Throughout the war only one country stood almost continuously against him. It was the greatest

  challenge that the islands of Britain had faced since the Norman invasion and Spanish Armada. To the growing alarm of its leaders and people, as France’s neighbours were ruthlessly cut down

  one after another, the struggle soon appeared to be hopeless, inviting first economic strangulation and then a murderous invasion.
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  Chapter 1




  THE COLLAPSE OF THE ANCIEN REGIME




  In the beginning there was a spark. That spark was the English Revolution of 1640–60. Flaring up fiercely and briefly, it left three embers smouldering: the rhetoric and

  republican ideals of its main instigators, at a time when it was virtual blasphemy to challenge the divine right of kings; the proof that social and economic forces could converge to knock even the

  embodiment of the power of the central state off its pedestal; and, last but not least, the elemental force that was forged from the fires of revolution, so necessary to advancing it, mastering it

  and ultimately destroying it – that of a powerful standing army. The English Revolution of course ended with the Restoration of 1660 but the underbrush continued to burn, re-emerging in the

  assertion of the rights of parliament that deposed James II and the eventual establishment of a virtually powerless monarchy under the Hanoverians.




  The embers of revolution, however, still smouldered to be blown by Atlantic winds across to Britain’s north American colonies. There, as in Britain before the Civil War, rapid economic and

  demographic change in the mid-eighteenth century suddenly collided with the attempt of a centralizing state to extend its authority in 1776. The result was inevitable: the latter was swept away in

  a torrent: only in calmer waters further downstream, could it re-emerge in very different guise.




  If the American Revolution can be described as a distant descendant of the English Revolution, the French Revolution was undoubtedly a firstborn child of the American one. It was no coincidence

  at all that it began when Benjamin Franklin – lecherous, egotistical, homespun, brilliant Franklin – was America’s longstanding envoy to France (where he

  subverted the French court by wearing shabby republican clothes amid the finery, becoming a cult figure for intellectuals), nor that Thomas Paine was to be swept up in the tumult of the French

  Revolution, nor that one of the first revolutionaries was the Marquis de Lafayette, one of the heroes of the American War of Independence.




  Franklin, a representative of men who had rejected the authority of a monarch altogether and preached a republic was a lethal cancer in the body politic of the French monarchy, and it was almost

  suicidally obtuse of Louis XVI and his courtiers not to realize it, obsessed as they were with the old power struggle with Britain.




  France had sought to turn the American Revolution into a dagger aimed at Britain’s breast, but succeeded in striking only a glancing blow before falling on the weapon itself. For in an age

  of press, printing and pamphleteering the ideals of the American Revolution soon found a following among intelligent and dissatisfied men in France. The immediate catalyst for the French

  Revolution, however, was the French court’s need to raise money – an exact echo of the cause of the English Revolution, when Charles I had had to summon parliament to raise revenue. The

  cost of French participation in the American war had been prohibitive, and had been met by loans. The French government afterwards ran out of ready access to lenders and in 1786 the minister of

  finance was forced to inform the French King that the situation could only be corrected by imposing taxes. In 1788, the ancien régime for the first (and last) time drew up a budget,

  which showed there to be a shortfall of some 20 per cent between expenses and revenues. Of the total budget, some 6 per cent was being spent on the court itself, some 20 per cent on administration,

  and 26 per cent on defence and foreign affairs. Nearly half was being swallowed up on debt service of some 318 million livres.




  It was thought necessary to reduce the debt through taxation – not through a general increase of the taxes that already fell almost entirely on the poor classes, whose wages had risen only

  by 22 per cent, compared to average price increases of 65 per cent over the previous half century – but by extending taxation to the wealthy bourgeoisie and to the nobility. The cause of the

  French Revolution was thus not the state’s attack on the poor, but on the rich!




  The minister of finance, Calonne, proposed an eminently progressive taxation regime: a uniform tax on salt and tobacco across the nation, a land tax and an end to internal

  tariffs and freedom for the gram trade (which affected the all-important price of bread) as well as the selling off of manorial properties possessed by the church so that they would be able to pay

  tax. Finally tax was to be administered by provincial assemblies in which the traditional ‘three estates’ of France – the clergy, the nobility, and all property owners –

  should be represented equally.




  Exactly as occurred under Charles I’s exactions, and George Grenville’s attempts to raise taxes in America through the Stamp Act the King’s plan provoked a furious outcry from

  the men of property – in particular, in France, the nobility. After bitter exchanges, the King was forced to summon the Estates-General, a kind of national assembly of the three estates,

  which had last been convened at the beginning of the seventeenth century, to get his way. At that stage the dispute was between the modernizing centralized royal court and the reactionary nobility

  – not the popular image of the people against King and aristocracy.




  France was in the throes of a social and economic revolution – a huge increase in population and in property: unfortunately the new prosperity was not well distributed among the expanding

  population. Worse, the economic boom was disrupting existing social arrangements: an urban working class had sprung up in the cities, in particular Paris, estimated at around 300,000 or around half

  the population of 600,000. Many of these benefited from the economic revolution, but this new concentration was also a powerful force in its own right. While the new property created a large urban

  bourgeoisie, the inequalities between the bourgeoisie and the workers also became obvious where they rubbed shoulders together.




  In the countryside there existed a large independent peasantry which possessed few of the feudal characteristics of its English neighbours: the peasants had for centuries been emancipated from

  serfdom, although a few traits lingered as well as their obligation to do military service. Whereas in Britain huge landholdings and a paid agricultural workforce were, in many ways, an extension

  of serfdom, the French peasant was a fiercely independent proprietor: but he was also poor, with a land-holding barely capable of supporting him. This naturally conservative

  class was baffled by two aspects of the economic revolution France was unleashing during the mid-eighteenth century: bread shortages caused by the archaic and corrupt system of regulation and

  distribution of gram, which Calonne was determined to reform, as well as by the increased appetites of the cities; and taxation at a time when purchasing power was diminishing. To the peasant it

  seemed that Calonne was preparing further to exacerbate their problems by levying new taxes and instituting a free for all on prices (which would actually have improved supply but lowered prices

  for the peasant producer). Thus another class was added to those with grievances against the ancien régime.




  A third class of malcontents came from the lower ranks of the nobility – of which Napoleon Bonaparte was himself to be a rather atypical example. The nobility in France was very different

  from that in Britain where it consisted of a select group of around 1,000 hugely wealthy landowning families. There were no fewer than 400,000 ‘nobles’ in France out of a population of

  some 23 million, with perhaps a fifth of the land. With the exception of the ‘nobility of the robe’ – high court officials of bourgeois background ennobled by the court –

  they were a caste.




  A large part of the nobility, however was extremely poor and would lose status if they worked for a living. For these people, the King and his court were an enemy, the new moneyed classes a

  source of envy, and the new wealth injected into the country something of which they were not a part.




  Thus France in the dying days of the ancien régime was a paradox – a newly enriched and developed society in which large numbers of people were alienated from the new

  prosperity – among them many of the squirearchy, most of the peasantry and part of the new urban working classes, as well as that part of the bourgeoisie with more or less fixed incomes.

  Meanwhile the newly prosperous merchant class – such as lower civil servants, professionals and lawyers – made up the overwhelming bulk of the elected members of the Third Estate in the

  newly convened Estates-General. The great French historian Georges Lefebvre has brilliantly summed up the bourgeoisie on the eve of the Revolution:




  

    

      For centuries the bourgeois, envious of the aristocracy, had aimed only at thrusting himself into its ranks. More than once he had succeeded, for a great many nobles

      descended from ennobled bourgeois. This ambition was not extinct. The Rolands put themselves to much trouble to get themselves recognized as nobles; the Derobespierres cut their name in two;

      Danton spelled his as d’Anton; Brissot, son of an innkeeper of Chartres, blossomed forth as Brissot de Ouarville, or still more fashionably, de Warville. Such were the marks of gentility.

      Bourgeois of old stock were frankly proud of their lineage, careful not to form an improper marriage. Officeholding and the professions established among them a hierarchy of which they were

      exceedingly jealous . . .




      Since at best only a small number of bourgeois could enjoy the advantage of becoming nobles, the rest of them wound up by execrating what they envied without hope. The exclusiveness of the

      nobility in the eighteenth century made the ascent even more arduous than before, especially when the nobles tried to reserve the most distinguished public employments for themselves. At the

      same time, with increasing wealth, the numbers and the ambitions of the bourgeois continued to mount. Sacrifices willingly made for the education of their children were meeting with

      disappointingly little reward, as the correspondence of Sieyès with his father testifies, and still better the examples of Brissot, Desmoulms and Vergniaud. The young Barnave wrote,

      ‘The road is blocked in every direction.’ Throughout the century government administrators had expressed alarm at the spread of education, and even in the Year III (1795) Boissy

      d’Anglas was to fear that education would result in forming ‘parasitic and ambitious minorities’.




      With the doors shut, the idea arose of breaking them down. From the moment when the nobility laid claims to being a caste, restricting public office to men of birth, the only recourse was to

      suppress the privilege of birth and to ‘make way for merit’. Pure vanity played its part, we may be sure; the most insignificant would – be noble nursed

      the wounds of his injured pride at the mere sight of the social distance above him. Among bourgeois of diverse kinds was forged a link that nothing could shatter – a common detestation of

      the aristocracy.’




      The bourgeoisie put its emphasis on earthly happiness and on the dignity of man; it urged the necessity of increasing the former and elevating the latter, through the control of natural

      forces by science and the utilizing of them to augment the general wealth. The means, it was believed, consisted in granting entire freedom to investigation, invention and enterprise, for which

      the incentive was to be personal gain, or the charm of discovery, struggle and risk. The conception was dynamic, calling upon all men, without distinction of birth, to enter into a universal

      competition from which the progress of mankind was to follow without end. The ideas appeared in a confused way in the France of the Renaissance; subsequently Descartes inaugurated a new

      humanism by opening up a magnificent perspective, the domination of nature by science; finally, the writers of the eighteenth century, encouraged by English and American influences – here

      we must note Voltaire, the encyclopaedists, the economists – set forth with spectacular success the principles of the new order, and the practical conclusions that it seemed fitting to

      deduce.




      The works of these writers strengthened oral propaganda in the salons and cafés which multiplied in the eighteenth century, and in the societies of all kinds which were

      founded in great numbers – agricultural societies, philanthropic associations, provincial academies, teaching institutions like the Museum at Paris, reading rooms, Mesmerist societies

      where the magnetism put in vogue by Mesmer was experimented with an, finally and above all, Masonic lodges, brought over from England in 1715.


    


  




  As the Abbé Sieyès so pithily put it: ‘What is the Third Estate? Everything. What has it been until now? Nothing. What does it ask? To be something.’

  The aristocracy, by directly challenging the reforming monarchy, had unwittingly created the instrument of its own destruction; for the Third Estate was by far the most numerous part of the Estates-General convened through aristocratic resistance to the new taxation. The King’s tax reform had thus assembled a formidable coalition of enemies, among them

  the aristocracy; and the aristocracy now provided the means by which those enemies could find expression not just against the King, but against the aristocracy as well.




 




     

  




  Chapter 2




  THE TENNIS COURT REVOLUTION




  With the summoning of the Estates-General on 4 May 1789, and the election of members of the Third Estate at open assemblies in which the articulate bourgeoisie prevailed over

  the peasants, the Revolution gathered momentum with astonishing speed. The three principal leaders at this stage were an unlikely combination: the Comte de Mirabeau, an aristocrat who had deserted

  his class, the Abbé Sieyès, a conspiratorial priest of lower middle-class origins and the Marquis de Lafayette, a hero of the American Revolution. Mirabeau was a powerful orator and a

  wheeler-and-dealer of men with immense charm. Offsetting this was an absence of real principle, a quick eye for opportunity, and aristocratic indolence which had led to earlier scandals,

  particularly over money, of which he was chronically short. In spite of his gifts, it was believed he could be bought by the court party if they so chose; and this prevented him from becoming the

  natural leader of the Third Estate. Sieyès was a poor speaker and an unimpressive personality, but he was a brilliant polemical writer and he emerged as the chief theoretician of the idea

  that the Third Estate represented the nation, which alone possessed sovereignty, not the King. However, he was no radical, fearing rather than favouring the mob and democracy, and he was soon to be

  eclipsed as the Revolution took a radical turn. Lafayette was hugely rich, and as a young man he had led the French volunteers and later conscripts that fought by George Washington’s side. He

  was an earnest and generous idealist: but he was also naive, vain and politically inept.




  Lafayette’s importance in the outbreak of war between France and its neighbours can hardly be exaggerated, and it is worth looking at him in closer detail. He had

  inherited his title at the age of two, when his father was killed at the Battle of Minden in the Seven Years War. Physically unimpressive, he was no athlete and was shunned at court, where his

  family was considered comparatively nouveau riche. However, he was phenomenally wealthy, with an income of around £300,000 a year by the age of twenty-one, and at the age of sixteen he

  had been married to the daughter of the Duc d’Ayen, head of one of the noblest families in France, who had taken the youth under his wing.




  However, the Duc was not Lafayette’s mentor: his military tutor was the Comte de Broglie, a former head of the French secret service, who plotted the extraordinary objective of becoming

  commander-in-chief of the forces in America in place of Washington, whom he and other French military leaders considered ineffectual, and then, fantastically, the elected leader of America. With an

  aristocratic Frenchman in charge of the colonies, he believed, the French court could be reconciled to supporting a republican revolution.




  De Broglie conspired with Silas Deane, the American envoy to Paris, to persuade the wealthy but naïve Lafayette to buy his own ship and travel to America. Arriving just south of Charleston

  on 13 June 1778, the young aristocrat made his way across country to Philadelphia. There Congress had learned of the Broglie plot; and Lafayette, who was not a party to it, was able to save his

  position only by offering to serve without pay.




  Washington and Lafayette had dinner together at Philadelphia’s city tavern after the British evacuation of the city, and the forty-five-year-old got on famously with the twenty-year-old

  – Washington, who had no sons of his own, asking the youth to treat him as ‘a father and friend’. While there was clearly an instant personal bond between the two, it also seems

  likely that, with France joining the war, Washington saw the advantage in having at his right hand a prominent Frenchman, whom he could hope to dominate because of the age disparity, and who could

  act as the eyes and ears of France. By the spring of 1778 he was given command of his own division. Lafayette proved a brave but poor military commander at best, but he remained closely in touch

  with his American ‘revolutionary’ friends and believed himself to be the arbiter of his country’s destinies: indeed, he fancied himself as France’s George Washington.




  At this early stage in June, the Third Estate was moderate and timid. Then, on 20 June, the King, under pressure from the strong-willed Queen, locked the Assembly hall before

  it was due to meet, and the deputies responded by going to a nearby tennis court, where they took an oath to stand fast. But the King still thought he could defuse their power with a highly

  enlightened series of concessions such as equality of taxation, unlimited liberty and freedom of the press, as well as in effect a sitting parliament. He was proposing nothing less than an

  English-style constitutional monarchy. The King still felt strong enough to threaten the representatives of the people:




  

    

      If you abandon me in this great enterprise I will work alone for the welfare of my peoples ... I will consider myself alone their true representative . . . None of your

      plans or proceedings can become law without my express approval ... I command you to separate at once, and to proceed tomorrow morning each to the hall of his own order to renew your

      deliberations.


    


  




  They took no notice. The nobility and clergy by now realized that they had to make common cause with the monarchy against more radical threats. Both decided to strike against

  what was now still a relatively moderate majority in parliament. In early January, the King assembled 18,000 troops from different parts of the country to enforce his claim to authority and

  dissolve the Estates-General. But they made no immediate move.




  On 12 July the Paris mob, largely consisting of shopkeepers and craftsmen, took to the streets for the first time. The first disturbances spread with the building of barricades on the following

  night. The next day the crowd flocked to the barracks and seized 32,000 muskets. The mob moved into the Bastille prison, a hated symbol of authority even though it housed just three mental cases

  and four forgers, and was guarded by eighty retired soldiers and thirty Swiss guards. Unwisely the governor of the Bastille ordered his men to open fire on the demonstrators, killing ninety-eight

  and wounding seventy-three. After a time, the crowd went berserk, invaded the prison and killed six soldiers, as well as, later, the governor, whose head was carried about the city on a pole.




  The mob now announced that they were forming a ‘government’ with its own National Guard, asking Lafayette to lead this. He gave the ‘citizen soldiers’

  a cockade consisting of the colours of Paris, red and blue, with the colour of the King, white, in the middle. The next day the King appeared before the tennis court assembly to urge calm and then

  went to Paris, where he was given a cockade which he fastened to his hat. But Lafayette was not in complete control: district assemblies met around Paris and another mob attacked three prominent

  officials. The new Assembly decided to set up a popular revolutionary tribunal and a committee of investigation to prevent the mob taking the law into its own hands.




  Uprisings broke out in towns and the country, as well as peasant riots. Châteaux and private houses were burned in a terrifying outbreak of anarchy which alarmed even the bourgeois leaders

  of the Revolution, who considered calling in the army, then decided to try and make concessions to the peasants and the mob by, in effect, abolishing privileges. The King arrogantly refused to sign

  these measures, whereupon it was asserted that ‘the convention needs no royal approval, for it is anterior to the monarchy’.




  On 26 August the Declaration of the Rights of Man and the Citizen was enacted: this had largely been drawn up by Lafayette in consultation with Thomas Jefferson, the American envoy to Paris, who

  appended a memorandum in his own hand. It bore a marked resemblance to the American Declaration of Independence. The American role in the French Revolution was considerable, spearheaded by

  Lafayette and Jefferson, who saw the opportunity not just to spread America’s revolutionary republican ideals across the globe but to get back at their joint traditional enemy, Britain.

  Although a powerful and mainly moderate document, the declaration omitted the American constitution’s careful prescription of checks and balances. This proved controversial, with those

  advancing a bicameral system, to preserve the powers of the nobility, dubbing those who sought a royal veto, to preserve the powers of the King, ‘Monarchical. The latter’s ideas were

  rejected, and the King in turn hardened his opposition to the new regime.




  Versailles itself was a small town whose economy was dominated by the royal family. But it was intense anti-royalist sentiment that motivated its local National Guard of

  several thousand; against this were some 400 Gardes de Corps, or lifeguards, of sworn loyalty to the King; and a rival force of grenadiers. At a feast for these men who sought to replace the

  lifeguards, the King made an unscripted appearance, giving rise to rumours he was plotting a crackdown.




  The radical Jacobin tendency and the militant ‘Dames des Balks’ and other groups, initially of women, decided to march on Versailles with the cry of ‘Bread. Bread! To

  Versailles.’ The National Guard was called up to stop them, but instead fraternized with the mob, its commander Lafayette swept away by the tide of humanity. One of his soldiers remarked:

  ‘Is it not strange that Lafayette attempts to control the people when it is his role to receive orders from them?’ It took Lafayette some four hours after the departure of the march for

  Versailles to return to his post at the head of the National Guard.




  The mob’s allies in the former Estates-General, now the National Assembly at Versailles, were ecstatic. One of the mob declared of the nobility that ‘the gentlemen wanted more light

  – they shall have lanterns, they may rely upon it’. He was talking of using the lines holding lanterns to hang aristocrats from the lamp-irons. A famous aristocratic retort by the

  Abbé Maury, was, ‘My friends, when you have put me in the lantern, will you see more clearly?’




  The mob broke into the Assembly, the women occupying the seat of the president and shouting at or cuddling its scandalized members. The leaders were granted a brief audience with the King, which

  so impressed them that they shrank back at that stage. But others were preparing to strangle members of the Assembly with their garters. During the night the extremists discovered that the few

  remaining soldiers were not prepared to resist, for fear of starting a bloodbath.




  The King’s loyalists begged him to leave: but he was prevailed upon to wait for the arrival of Lafayette and the National Guard. The mob performed a kind of drunken advance on the palace

  guard, then stayed there for the night, drinking, singing and firing their guns; they caught a horse, roasted it and ate it. Lafayette arrived at last with his orderly National Guard. He saw the

  King, guaranteed the security of the palace, persuaded the National Assembly to adjourn and then – astoundingly – went to bed.




  At around three in the morning a group of extremists broke through an unlocked gate to the vast palace grounds and forced their way into the Queen’s apartments before

  pushing aside the few guards there and killing one. They forced their way into her bedroom, from which she had escaped through a secret passage. They slashed the bed she had just been occupying

  with pikes and swords: allegedly she had just been in the arms of a lover, but this seems unlikely at such a trying time. The assailants’ leader, Jourdain (later known as the

  ‘head-cutter’ or ‘man with a beard’), was a male model from Paris armed with an axe.




  At around this time Lafayette was roused from his slumbers and the grenadiers at last cleared the royal courtyard of the rabble. But a much larger mob was outside the palace itself, shouting for

  the ‘Austrian’ – Marie Antoinette – to appear. This she did with extraordinary courage on the balcony, holding the hands of her two children, who then went inside as the

  crowd demanded. Some jeered; but now there were shouts of ‘Vive la Reine ’ from the crowd.




  A new cry arose: ‘To Paris.’ This had in fact been the objective of the Jacobin clubs who had inspired the march, and must have been their intention all along. Lafayette’s

  National Guard, along with the 1,000 or so grenadiers, as well as the few hundred bodyguards, could certainly have resisted this: maybe he feared the National Guard would not have obeyed orders.

  Displaying his characteristic poor judgement – or opportunism, seeing this as a chance to bring the King under his control, for he certainly did not lack courage – he refused to defend

  the King and instead ordered the royal family out into that bitterly cold night.




  This was the first real turning-point of the Revolution. As an anonymous account written soon afterwards, based on eye-witness description, vividly put it:




  

    

      The carriages of the royal family were placed in the middle of an immeasurable column, consisting partly of Lafayette’s soldiers, partly of the revolutionary rabble

      whose march had preceded his, amounting to several thousand men and women of the lowest and most desperate description, intermingling in groups amongst the bands of French guards, and civic

      soldiers, whose discipline could not enable them to preserve even a semblance of order. Thus they rushed along, howling their songs of triumph.




      The harbingers of the march bore the two bloody heads of the murdered Gardes de Corps paraded on pikes, at the head of the column, as the emblems of their prowess and success. The

      rest of this body, worn down by fatigue, most of them despoiled of their arms, and many without hats, anxious for the fate of the royal family, and harassed with apprehensions for themselves,

      were dragged like captives in the midst of the mob, while the drunken females around them bore aloft in triumph their arms, their belts, and their hats. These wretches, stained with the blood

      in which they had bathed themselves, were now singing songs, of which the burthen bore, – ‘We bring you the baker, his wife, and the little apprentice’; as if the presence of

      the unhappy royal family, with the little power they now possessed, had been in itself a charm against scarcity.




      Some of these Amazons rode upon the cannon, which made a formidable part of the procession. Many of them were mounted on the horses of the Gardes de Corps, some in masculine fashion,

      others en croupe. All the muskets and pikes which attended this immense cavalcade, were garnished, as if in triumph, with oak boughs, and the women carried long poplar branches in their

      hands, which gave the column, so grotesquely composed in every respect, the appearance of a moving grove. Scarce a circumstance was omitted which could render this entrance into the capital

      more insulting to the King’s feelings – more degrading to the royal dignity.




      After six hours of dishonour and agony, the unfortunate Louis was brought to the Hotel de Ville, where Bailli, then mayor, complimented him upon the ‘splendid day’, which

      restored the monarch of France to his capital; assured him that order, peace, and all the gentler virtues, were about to revive in the country under his royal eye, and that the King would

      henceforth become powerful through the people, the people happy through the King; and ‘what was truest of all’, that as Henry IV had entered Paris by means of reconquering his

      people, Louis XVI had done so, because his people had reconquered their King. His wounds salved with this lip-comfort, the unhappy and degraded Prince was at length permitted to retire to the Palace of the Tuilenes, which, long uninhabited, and almost unfurnished, yawned upon him like the tomb where alone he at length found repose.


    


  




  Louis himself remarked: ‘It is wonderful that with such love of liberty on all sides, I am the only person that is deemed totally unworthy of enjoying it.’




  This was the real beginning of the Revolution; for with the King virtually a prisoner in Paris it became impossible for him to become the standard around which the country

  could rally against the revolutionary extremists – as Charles I of England had. It is said that the Duc d’Orleans, the King’s jealous cousin and rival, had in fact suborned this

  particular mob, and that he himself had planned the Queen’s assassination and his own assumption of power as regent: he was said to have been present and watching the proceedings at

  Versailles, but had failed to come forward himself. Mirabeau, his supporter until then, was scathing in his denunciation of the Duc’s duplicity, and the Duc was exiled to London.




  Lafayette, who detested D’Orleans, was now in such control as there was and guardian of public order. The King merely bowed to the decisions of the Assembly and was surrounded in the

  Tuilenes by 800 men placed there by Lafayette as both his protectors and his gaolers. But meanwhile two men plotted that he should escape and become a rallying point for resistance. One was

  Lafayette, the other Mirabeau himself. He urged the King to flee to Metz, controlled by a tough old rogue, the Marquis de Bouille, a relative of Lafayette. A first attempt to get the King to safety

  failed when the National Guard in April 1791 blocked him and refused Lafayette’s orders to let him leave. In June the King tried again, leaving behind him a long attack on the proceedings of

  the Assembly, such was his confidence of success. He was arrested at Varennes, having failed to rendezvous with the forces under de Bouille, and was conveyed back exhausted and covered in dust.




  The second major turning point of the Revolution now occurred; for Lafayette, fearing that matters were getting out of control, decided at last to make a stand. A meeting was held on 17 July

  1791, at the Champ de Mars, with Jacobin and republican leaders for the first time calling for the King’s removal. Unfortunate bystanders were seized by the crowd and

  killed, their heads being put on pikes. Lafayette arrived with a detachment of National Guardsmen who were met with a hail of stones. He ordered his men at last to open fire and the mob dispersed.

  Order was restored and the Assembly behaved with moderation: at that stage the King should have made his escape, as many suggested; but he chose to remain.




  Lafayette belatedly emerged as his defender. But in the new National Assembly, elected countrywide again by voice vote, more extreme men were preponderant: the majority were Girondins, after the

  southern department from which they mostly came, bourgeois lawyers determined to end the monarchy. Their leader was Brissot, who frequented the cultural salon of Madame Roland. The minority were

  Jacobins, more extreme men like Maximilien Robespierre, the ‘sea-green incorruptible’, and his corrupt but eloquent Girondin ally Danton, as well as the radical philosopher Marat, who

  was insatiably bloodthirsty; they controlled the Paris mob – Les sans-culottes (trouserless ones).




  In five short months the Assembly the King had called to rein back the power of the aristocracy had ended in the overthrow of both by the middle classes, backed by the threat of mob force. Even

  so, the majority of the Assembly still had no intention of setting up a republic. But Louis had lost his authority, and thenceforth the real opposition to the Revolution was to come from the

  aristocracy. The authority of the central state, which had overreached itself in the power struggle with the nobility, had been seized by the middle classes; and although the Declaration of Rights

  ensured legal and property rights and did not call for economic equality, it also gave the nation’, as enshrined in the will of the people, virtually absolute power through the National

  Assembly and the local assemblies, the only real holders of authority. The French central state had become, if anything, even more absolute, because the nobility was weaker before it: but power was

  exercised by self-appointed people’s representatives, not the King.




 




     

  




  Chapter 3




  TO KILL A KING




  The moderate leadership of Lafayette in the Champ de Mars in July 1791 was reinforced by a group called Les Feuillants, consisting of some 200 members of the new Assembly,

  constitutionalists in opposition to the Girondins and Jacobins. But they had no leader. Mirabeau had died in April 1791 and Lafayette, volatile as ever, had been bitterly criticized for his role in

  the Champ de Mars bloodbath. He found his supporters deserting him. As an anonymous historian wrote thirty years later, his supporters were fickle. Those who supported him:




  

    

      were Parisian citizens of substance and property, but timorous, even from the very consciousness of their wealth, and unwilling, either for the sake of La Fayette, or the

      Constitution which he patronized, to expose themselves to be denounced by furious demagogues, or pillaged by the hordes of robbers and assassins whom they had at their disposal. This is the

      natural progress in revolutions. While order continues, property has always the superior influence over those who may be desirous of infringing the public peace; but when law and order are in a

      great measure destroyed, the wealthy are too much disposed to seek, in submission, or change of party, the means of securing themselves and their fortunes. The property which, in ordinary

      times, renders its owners bold, becomes, in those of imminent danger, the cause of their selfish cowardice.


    


  




  Lafayette was defeated when he stood for mayor of Paris by Petion, his radical opponent. At that stage he decided to secure his power by urging France into

  war – of which more later. He also believed that command of the army would be critical to the outcome of the Revolution. With his departure, the National Guard was ruthlessly attacked by

  Jacobin mobs, and the Girondists tried to create their own army from among their followers. But this was subverted by the Jacobins.




  Louis vetoed this proposal to set up a ‘departmental’ army, as well as a measure excluding parties who refused to swear an oath of loyalty to the new constitution. In thus seeking to

  exercise a veto when he was virtually powerless, with no real support behind him (‘Think not to terrify me by threats. My resolve is fixed.’) Louis showed himself to be suicidally

  stubborn: he had united the rival Girondists and Jacobins. One described the outcome: ‘Terror, just in the name of the people, burst its way into yonder palace, whence she has so often

  sallied forth at the command of monarchs.’




  On 20 June a carefully staged insurrection was organized involving a mob of sans-culottes armed with scythes, pikes and hay-forks. One flag was a pair of tattered trousers, another a

  pig’s bloody entrails. The bourgeois citizens defended the slopes of the Palais Royale, but the mob went on to occupy and terrorize the Assembly, then moved on to the Tuilenes.




  Louis was trapped there, within the arch of a window with a few loyalists who erected a barricade of tables, where he was joined by the Queen and her children. Thus they faced the mob, with the

  King being forced to don a red cap and drink from a communal bottle – his ‘Calvary’. At last Petion, mayor of Paris, called on the huge crowd of 50,000 to disperse. This

  humiliation led to a backlash of sympathy for the King, and Lafayette returned speedily from the war front – but without a body of supporting troops, perhaps because he feared diverting them

  from the fighting, more probably because he did not want to be denounced as attempting to instigate a military takeover. Lafayette made a powerful speech to the Assembly and summoned a review of

  the National Guard for the following day, but this had more or less disintegrated in his absence, and few dared to appear.




  Lafayette, who had twice prevented the King from leaving Paris, now urged him to do so. But it was too late. Lafayette, whose ambition, hesitations and miscalculations had

  done so much to create the whole crisis, and who was now responsible for France’s aggressive attitude towards its neighbours, returned to the war front, while Paris descended into virtual

  anarchy, a band of 500 citizenry from Marseilles adding their numbers to the Girondin and Jacobin mobs.




  The King had become hopelessly fatalistic: ‘I have no longer anything to do with earth,’ he declared. ‘I must turn all my thoughts to heaven.’ On 10 August the mobs again

  descended on the Tuilenes, which were protected by a force of National Guardsmen divided in their loyalties, as well as faithful Swiss Guards and a few grenadiers who were slaughtered. The King

  received them not in uniform but in a violet costume, the colour of monarchy. The Queen seized a pistol and urged the King to fight: those witnesses present, as well as Napoleon afterwards,

  believed the National Guard would have followed him if he had given the command. But he proposed to go to the Assembly to seek its protection. The Queen was plundered of her purse by the pressing

  crowds. The King and his family were imprisoned in the grim and forbidding keep of the Temple.




  The Jacobins set about intimidating the Assembly. Some 8,000 people were rounded up on suspicion of counter-revolution: a denunciation by a single opponent was enough, and any trace of gentility

  or good behaviour was damning. Marie Antoinette’s friend the Princess de Lambaille was chopped to pieces and her head paraded to the Temple where the crowd called upon the King and Queen to

  look upon it. Priestss were among the most frequent victims.




  Some 4,000–6,000 died in just four days that September. The Girondins, who represented most of the countryside outside Paris, had in fact won a majority in the Assembly, but the Jacobins

  controlled the Paris mob, which could intimidate the Assembly. The Girondins tried to organize a ‘Departmental Legion’ – again a kind of army from outside Paris – but were

  blocked by the Jacobins. General Dumouriez, commander of the French army outside Paris, offered to bring back an army to defy the Jacobins – but the Girondins would have none of it, for fear

  that he would also sweep them away.




  Instead they went along reluctantly with Jacobin calls for the tnal and execution of the King. A committee of twenty-four was set up to report on his misdeeds: they proved so

  inept at finding a reason for executing this weak but good-natured man that the National Assembly as a whole had to pronounce justice. The wily Robespierre brilliantly exploited their dilemma:




  

    

      One party must be clearly guilty; either the King, or the Convention, who have ratified the actions of the insurgent people. If you have dethroned an innocent and legal

      monarch, what are you but traitors? And why sit you here – why not hasten to the Temple, set Louis at liberty, install him again in the Tuilleries, and beg on your knees for a pardon you

      have not merited? But if you have, in the great popular act which you have ratified, only approved of the deposition of a tyrant, summon him to the bar, and demand a reckoning for his

      crimes.


    


  




  The King and Queen were exposed to appalling conditions and indignities at the Temple, where conditions were spartan; partisan songs were sung under their windows and

  obscenities poured forth when they went out for the single daily walk they were permitted.




  The Assembly was surrounded by the Jacobins, intimidating the delegates and jeering at the King as he arrived for his trial – where, unlike Charles I of England, he answered the charges

  reasonably and with saintly patience. As he said with dignity when indicted under the name Louis Capet:




  

    

      Capet is not my name – it was that of one of my ancestors. I could have wished that I had not been deprived of the society of my son during the two hours I have

      expected you – but it is only of a piece with the usage I have experienced for four months. I will attend you to the Convention, not as acknowledging their right to summon me, but because

      I yield to the superior power of my enemies.


    


  




  When the motion was put to the vote, the Duc d’Orleans, who had returned from England under the name Citoyen Égalité, voted for death, to a gasp of horror,

  along with 387 Assembly members to 334 – a majority of 53. An historian soon after wrote:




  

    

      Upon the scaffold [the King] behaved with the firmness which became a noble spirit, and the patience beseeming one who was reconciled to heaven. As one

      of the few marks of sympathy with which his sufferings were softened, the attendance of a confessor, who had not taken the constitutional oath, was permitted to the dethroned monarch. He who

      undertook the honourable but dangerous office, was a gentleman of the gifted family of Edgeworth of Edgeworths-town; and the devoted zeal with which he rendered the last duties to Louis, had

      like in the issue to have proved fatal to himself. As the instrument of death descended, the confessor pronounced the impressive words – ‘Son of St Louis, ascend to

      heaven!’


    


  




  The King was executed on 21 January 1793. Marie Antoinette was beheaded on 16 October, at the age of thirty-eight. The King’s sister Elizabeth was executed in May 1794.

  The seven-year-old Dauphin was placed under the control of a shoemaker named Simon who, it is said, asked: ‘What was to be done with the young wolf-whelp: Was he to be slain?’ –

  ‘No.’ – ‘Poisoned?’ – ‘No.’ – ‘Starved to death?’ – ‘No.’ – ‘What then?’ – ‘He was

  to be got rid of.’ He died of cold, malnutrition, beating and general ill-treatment in June 1795. Only his sister, the Princess Royal, was permitted to live. It had been a massacre, to

  prevent a rallying point for a restoration emerging.




 




     

  




  Chapter 4




  THE REPUBLIC GOES TO WAR




  For too long and far too often the wars of 1792–1815 have been dubbed the ‘Napoleonic Wars’ when, in fact, Napoleon was unknown at the outset and not the

  ruler of France until 1799. Other Frenchmen initiated the war with England and the rest of continental Europe, for elemental reasons connected with French politics and nationalism, and by the time

  Napoleon took control the motives, direction and even the kind of warfare involved had been established by men who are virtually unknown today. It is one of Napoleon’s more remarkable feats

  that he is entirely associated with French expansionism at this time: yet in fact he took over a vessel already built and whose course had long been set. One of those most significant in this

  process was Dumouriez (the others were Hoche and Carnot), an extraordinary personality well in advance of his time who, had he not been so, might have become as celebrated as Napoleon.




  Charles Dumouriez was a tough, feisty soldier who had risen to prominence during campaigns in Poland. Extremely shrewd in his political dealings, he had no firm political convictions, but was

  loyal to the King while being prepared to swear loyalty to the Revolution as long as the two marched in tandem. Dumouriez was the arch-rival of the political, posturing Lafayette for control of

  France’s revolutionary army; as long as the latter was preoccupied with internal politics, the former was militarily pre-eminent.




  With the outbreak of the French Revolution, the country had been immediately endangered by two of the ‘big seven’ countries in Europe. Absolutist Russia, while detesting everything

  the Revolution stood for, took no action; nor did decadent Spam; nor, initially, did Britain. Austria, however, under Emperor Joseph II, and its rival Prussia, under King

  Frederick William, rose to the challenge. Joseph, a well-meaning reformer, had succeeded in stirring up dissent across his far-flung dominions by seeking to improve conditions there and overriding

  the local vested interests. Consequently, he had too much on his hands to fight France as well. On his death, he was succeeded by his half-brother, Leopold, a more limited but sensible man who

  succeeded in putting down the insurrection in Flanders and then treated the insurgents with moderation. He was alarmed by the prospect of France stirring up more trouble in Flanders and pursued a

  pragmatic line towards the Revolution, which had not yet tilted towards excess, partly out of concern for his sister Marie Antoinette and her husband: the correspondence between them shows that far

  from attempting to take advantage of the Revolution he was seeking to urge a moderate middle course upon Louis XVI. His son and successor in 1792, Francis II, pursued the same policy.




  Prussia’s Frederick William, however, had fewer inhibitions. The inheritor of the legacy of Frederick the Great, a superbly trained and disciplined army, he lacked both the military skill

  and the wisdom of his predecessor. He was out to make his mark on Europe, and his absolutist mind was appalled by the Revolution, while discerning the opportunities that he believed France’s

  new weakness would offer him. He also wished to show up the caution of his fellow German rival, the Austrian Emperor.




  A large number of French émigrés descended on these neighbouring courts and set themselves up in armed militias at Trèves and elsewhere. At the Declaration of Pilmtz in

  August 1791 these émigrés organized an expression of concern from Prussia and Austria for the fate of the King of France. However, Leopold had been cautious, offering to prevent the

  émigrés training on his territory in exchange for France reining back the activities of the Jacobins. His successor, young Francis II, was keener on joining Frederick William in

  threatening war on France, particularly as the circumstances of the French royal family deteriorated.




  To the astonishment of both, it was the French, mired in revolutionary turmoil and with their army apparently disintegrating, having lost many of their aristocratic officers,

  that declared war. The reason for this lay in internal French politics and, to begin with at least, the perverse nature of Lafayette, who sought to restore his fading political fortunes by a

  glorious war; he was backed in this by the constitutionalists and the Girondins, although surprisingly the Jacobins were divided. The Assembly in the autumn of 1791 passed a measure to force the

  King’s Financial Adviser, Xavier Stanislaus, who had declared war on the country, to return to France, and pronounced a death sentence on all émigrés found in arms at the

  beginning of the following year. The King refused to sign this.




  The French foreign minister, de Lessart, had tried to avert war by telling the Austrians that the King would soon establish his supremacy over the extreme republicans. Meanwhile an unholy

  combination of Lafayette and the minister of war, the Comte de Narbonne, tried to secure Assembly support for the war. Louis summarily dismissed the Comte de Narbonne. The Assembly was furious at

  this sudden reassertion of the royal prerogative and promptly accused de Lessart, a moderate royalist, of intriguing with the Austrian court. The unfortunate foreign minister was condemned to death

  and guillotined, and his successor appointed from among the Girondins: this was Charles Dumouriez.




  Dumouriez was no friend of the Austrians and conceived a highly intelligent strategy of establishing a pact with Britain to keep it neutral. This was based on setting up a constitutional

  monarchy in France and respect for mutual trading arrangements, while detaching Belgium from Austria and setting it up as an independent state. The Austrians under their new young Emperor were

  incensed and demanded the return of the French King to the powers he enjoyed before 1789, the return of lands and buildings taken from the church and compensation for the German princes recently

  expelled by the French from Alsace and Lorraine. This was unacceptable to the French. On 29 April 1792 the French King was forced to declare war against his own brother-in-law, the Emperor, as well

  as against his two brothers, the Comte de Provence and the Comte d’Artois, who were leading the sputtering insurrections within France itself.




  No one could have predicted that the subsequent general European war would last twenty-three years. Who was to blame? Undoubtedly the French had acted badly in expropriating

  German landowners and the clergy, particularly in the historic city of Avignon, where a bloodbath had taken place. Austrian fury at the treatment of the Queen, the Emperor’s aunt, was also

  understandable. But up to now the French had not violated other borders or pursued a policy of aggression. Such certainly was the view of the British.




  Nevertheless, as Dumouriez and, before him, Lafayette had seen, there was an advantage to be had out of war – not least in strengthening the hand of the army in domestic politics. They had

  goaded the Austrians, and the latter and their war-hungry Prussian rivals had been all too happy to respond. However the Austrians still held aloof from any full-scale assault, although they

  immediately secured victories against the disorganized French army.




  The Duke of Brunswick was appointed to command the joint 365,000 strong Austrian-Prussian forces: after his victories at Maastricht, Liège and Neerwinden in the Low Countries, he was a

  commander to be feared. However, for reasons which remain obscure, he placed a force of 15,000 French émigré cavalry, which ought to have been the elite of his force, in the rear.

  There were suspicions that Brunswick was waging a war of aggression: for when he captured Longwy and Verdun he did so in the name of the Emperor of Austria, not the King of France. He had a

  splendid army of Prussian troops and Austrian dragoons under General Clairfait; but he launched no immediate attack to disperse the raw recruits which Dumouriez, now minister of war, had raised

  from a levy of men from across provincial France, nor the hesitant regular army, which had lost most of its royalist officers.




  Brunswick’s army was blocked at the fortress of Thionville: he had too few cannon. He then moved into the Champagne region, one of the poorest in Europe, where his men fell upon a

  profusion of melons and grapes which immediately caused an epidemic of dysentery in the army, killing hundreds. Nevertheless the émigré cavalry scored a notable success in ambushing a

  column of carmagnoles, as the raw republican conscripts were called.




  The Duke himself only took part in one action, the Battle of Valmy, before being rebuffed by Dumouriez’s forces and deciding to order a retreat. This deeply demoralized

  the émigrés, who had no choice but to obey the orders of their foreign commander, and the Prussians, who had obeyed the call to arms of the Emperor at great expense. The French

  resistance, however raw, was stiffened by the fear that any restoration of Louis XVI to his absolute powers by the émigrés would inevitably have resulted in years of revenge,

  bloodletting and the reimposition of feudal rule.




  With the Prussian retreat, the formerly uncertain French army found new hope: they had repulsed the enemy. Recruits flowed into the surprisingly successful French armies controlled by Generals

  Custine in Paris, Montesquieu in Savoy and Dumouriez in the Netherlands. Montesquieu, an aristocrat of the old school but a patriot, repulsed the Savoyan army ordered into France by the King of

  Sardinia and took Nice and Chambery, threatening to invade Italy.




  On the central front Custine struck forward against the seven German kingdoms, capturing Worms, Oppenheim and Spiree and the stronghold of Mentz. Custine had no hesitation in urging the people

  of central Germany to overthrow their rulers. In the north Dumouriez, ably supported by his Spanish deputy Francisco de Miranda, struck forward against Clairfait’s soldiers, spectacularly

  winning the Battle of Jemappes on 6 November 1792. Clairfait was forced to retreat from the Austrian Netherlands with its towns undefended thanks to Joseph II’s ridiculous decision to

  dismantle the fortifications along the frontier. The French army under Dumouriez remained firmly disciplined in its new conquests, but a shower of revolutionary officials descended on the area,

  pillaging the churches, plundering the land and setting up republican forms of government.




  Dumouriez rushed to Paris in an effort to save the King. Bravely, and well aware that his own head was at stake if he lingered too long, he now privately proposed setting the Dauphin or the Duc

  d’Orleans’ son – who had served under him – on the throne. But he was ordered to return to invade Holland.




  At first the campaign went well: Gertruydenberg was seized and Bergenop-Zoom blockaded. But Dumouriez was blocked at Williamstadt. Moreover an Austrian army had at last arnved under the Prince

  of Saxe-Coburg and was threatening Belgium. Dumouriez veered about, but his army was mauled at Arx-la-Chapelle. Where before he might have been able to restore the French

  monarchy, his reputation was now endangered. He made a further blunder by threatening to march on Paris in a letter of 12 March 1793, in support of the King. Only six days later he was defeated in

  the Battle of Neerwinden. His sieges of the fortresses of Lisle, Valenciennes and Cond all failed.




  He entered into serious negotiations with the Austrians and arrested four commissars sent out by the Convention to keep an eye on him, sending them to the Austrians as prisoners. He tried to

  persuade several commanders, including Miranda, to join him in seeking to seize control of Paris. Most refused, and the army showed no disposition to follow him as he negotiated with the enemy. He

  realized the game was up and fled to the Austrians, and then into exile in Britain, where he spent nearly twenty years acting as a wise counsellor to the British government during the Napoleonic

  war.




  So ended the career of one of the most redoubtable figures of revolutionary France, a potential military dictator long before Napoleon. Far more than the feeble Lafayette before him, he had

  shown that revolutionary France could be great if order was restored. It was far too soon, but the lesson was not lost on the men who were later to bring Napoleon to power.




  Dumouriez’s early victories halted any occupation of France while it was at its most vulnerable and showed that the new popular army, with its officers promoted through merit from the

  ranks and its soldiers believing they were fighting for the Revolution, not merely to serve the King or the aristocracy, could be a potent force. Again, Dumourlez’s successors and Napoleon

  were not slow to imbibe the lesson.




  If the British had lent their support to the joint Austrian and Prussian forces, the Revolution might have been nipped in the bud at this early moment. However the British had absolutely no

  intention of intervening at this stage, and the opportunity passed. Dumouriez had certainly entertained the hope of an alliance with the British and the Austrians against the Convention, but his

  revolt had failed and he was forever to be damned as a traitor to France. The course of history would have been very different had he succeeded.




 




     

  




  Chapter 5




  THE LATIN ADVENTURER




  Francisco de Miranda, one of Dumouriez’s best generals, enjoyed a career not unlike Napoleon’s early one, emerging as a potential French leader himself. The

  Venezuelan-born Miranda had deserted from the Spanish army and travelled extensively in the United States, Europe and Russia, where he became Catherine the Great’s lover, seeking support for

  his goal of Latin American independence from Spam. He had previously spent three years in London pursuing this cause, but all his talk of leading South America to revolution had come to nothing. He

  switched his attention to the revolutionary ferment in France: a group of monarchists there had tried to get him to join a counterrevolutionary mercenary army of Russians, Swedes, Germans and

  Frenchmen partly backed by Catherine the Great, who had suggested Miranda’s name. However, Miranda’s intellectual sympathies lay with the revolutionaries.




  He made a good impression on Brissot when the Girondin leader visited London, and between them they developed the idea that the Revolution in France could be spread both to mainland Spain and to

  Spanish America. Brissot lobbied the commander in northern France, Dumouriez, to appoint Miranda as head of an invasion force of 12,000 French infantry and 10,000 mulattos then garrisoned in Santo

  Domingo who, with the assistance of the French navy, might be expected to topple Spain’s hold on her colonies, something France wanted almost as much as Britain.




  Crossing to Paris, Miranda had found little enthusiasm for the plan there, however, and was considering a return to London when the Austrian and Prussian armies invaded

  France from the east. In August 1792, as the country reeled at the prospect of defeat, Miranda, who had perhaps sold his military credentials a little too successfully, found himself offered the

  rank of marshal in the French army and the title of baron, as well as a fat stipend, very attractive to a man now hard pressed for the money to live in the grand style to which he had become

  accustomed. At the age of forty-two he was at last a real general – in the service of revolutionary France. His Russian supporters, who loathed the French revolutionaries, were appalled at

  the transformation, but did not sever their links with him altogether.




  To his own surprise, in his first engagement, along the border between Belgium and Holland, his force of 2,000 men succeeded after seven hours of fighting in putting to flight some 6,000

  Prussians led by the Graf von Kelkreuth, a capable commander. It was the first French success of the war. With uncharacteristic modesty, Miranda spoke of his ‘beginner’s luck in the

  French army’; he was promptly appointed to command a division in the front line, under Dumouriez’s overall command. En route to Vaux the 10,000-strong division commanded by General

  Chazot suddenly encountered 1,500 Prussian hussars. The French panicked and fled; a rout seemed imminent, until the retreating forces reached Miranda’s position at Wargemoulm. There, sword in

  hand, he stopped their flight, and reorganized the two forces into three columns to march on Valmy.




  Dumouriez boldly attacked, believing that he faced a Prussian army of 50,000 men, and a major battle. Instead he was met only by covering fire; the Prussians had retreated after the French

  rally. Miranda’s reputation soared. However, he viewed with distaste the rise of the revolutionary party in France, in particular the Jacobin faction led by Robespierre and Marat. He wrote to

  the American Alexander Hamilton: ‘The only danger which I foresee is the introduction of extremist pnnciples which would poison freedom in its cradle and destroy it for us.’




  Miranda moved up to join Dumouriez as second-in-command of the French army in Belgium. He went to the relief of Dumouriez’s army at Anderlecht, and was appointed to take over General La

  Bourdonnais’s command of the Northern Army. As the grip of winter intensified Miranda’s forces reached the outskirts of Ambères, where he personally

  supervised the digging of trenches, encouraging his men while maintaining rigid discipline. Ambères was heavily fortified; on 26 November the French guns opened up and were answered from

  within, but not a single besieger was killed. By five in the afternoon, as plumes of smoke from the burning city curled into the sky, the Austrians were seeking terms. These took four days to

  negotiate and amounted to unconditional surrender, at the cost of just thirty casualties to Miranda’s army.




  It was another morale-boosting victory for the hard-pressed French under their inspired new general, who immediately set about reinforcing the city’s defences. He arrested some of its

  leading citizens to exact tribute to pay for provisioning his troops, and dissolved the convents and monasteries, stripping prelates, abbots and monks of their titles. The 22,000 men under his

  command were soon joined by thousands belonging to the Army of the Ardennes, swelling his command to 70,000 men.




  In February 1793, against his own advice, Miranda was ordered to send out 12,000 of his men to besiege Maastricht. As he expected, the 30,000 or so enemy forces proved too well entrenched. They

  fired some 32,000 cannon-shot in six days, but failed to inflict many casualties upon the small French besieging force. Miranda decided to withdraw, lest he lose his guns to an Austrian sortie. He

  was bitterly criticized for what was clearly a sensible tactical move; he was also hated by many of his own men for his dracoman punishments for looting and raping.




  Another much more dangerous threat now loomed. Early in March, Miranda’s commander-in-chief, Dumouriez, asked his staff officers what they thought of the growing Jacobin outrages. King

  Louis XVI had been executed in January, the revolutionary Terror was gathering pace, and the radicals mistrusted nothing so much as the army, even though they depended upon it for the

  Revolution’s survival against external enemies. Miranda primly replied that he disapproved of seeking the opinions of soldiers on such issues.




  Soon afterwards two generals, La Hove and Stengel, were arrested on grounds of conspiracy. Dumouriez now demanded to know what Miranda would do if the order came to arrest

  him, Dumouriez. Miranda said that he would have no option but to obey, adding that General Valance, as the senior general in the French army, would however be responsible for executing it.

  Dumouriez angrily retorted that the army would refuse to carry out any such order. A few days later Dumouriez told Miranda that he intended to march on Paris, to restore freedom: the

  counter-revolution was under way. To his astonishment Miranda, despite his own disapproval of the increasingly radical turn taken by the Revolution, told Dumouriez the soldiers would not obey him

  and that he, Miranda, might also oppose him. It was a moment of truth: from then on Dumouriez no longer trusted his subordinate.




  Miranda’s action is inexplicable, except in terms of self-preservation – he believed Dumouriez could not succeed. Miranda had little romantic commitment to the French Revolution and

  was privately highly critical of the direction it was taking. His enemies believed his ambition was to replace his superior: already the Girondin leaders had identified him as the best candidate

  for Dumouriez’s post, should anything happen to the commander-in-chief.




  Dumouriez then decided on an extraordinarily high-risk tactic, one that Miranda’s partisans have always believed was an act of deliberate treachery designed to discredit their hero and

  lead to his downfall. Holding good defensive positions, though vastly outnumbered and out-gunned, Dumouriez determined to risk the whole French flank in an offensive against the Austrian-led

  forces. His motive may have been to give himself enough prestige, through victory, to march on Paris and take over the reins of power.




  On 15 March Miranda had successfully repulsed an attack on Tirlemont, but with General Champmorin’s forces was then ordered to attack the right flank of the enemy at Neerwinden. It was

  suicidal, since Miranda’s 10,000 men were opposed by Austrian-led forces around 18,000-strong, well entrenched in a defensible position. The French were mown down without pity. Although he

  was in the thick of the fight, Miranda survived; after nightfall, he had no alternative but to sound the retreat, leaving 2,000 of his men dead. The retreat was orderly, and he handled it with

  great coolness.




  It soon emerged that Dumouriez had known the enemy was strongest on their right flank and weakest on their left, where his own forces were superior: the weakest part of the

  French force, under Miranda, had thus been ordered to attack where the enemy were strongest. From the start Miranda had opposed the plan, which he later described as ‘against the rules of the

  art of warfare. I am astonished that Dumouriez was capable of such an error.’ The suspicion must be that Dumouriez wanted Miranda to do badly by comparison with the other commanders, in a bid

  to discredit and remove him before the coup attempt. But he had miscalculated in believing that the centre would hold, and the whole French army was thrown back as a result of this disastrously

  conceived attack.




  On 21 March the Austrians attacked at Pallemberg. Miranda held his positions for a day, despite severe losses, then staged another orderly night retreat. Four days later Dumouriez and Miranda

  met, and exchanged furious words. Dumouriez railed against the Jacobins, while Miranda criticized his commander’s military ineptitude.




  The Jacobins at last came to learn of Dumouriez’s plotting, and of his criticism of his second-in-command. As we have seen, Dumouriez went over to the Austrians; Miranda was summoned to

  Paris. Arriving at the end of the month, he was immediately interrogated by Citizen Petiot, a Girondin sympathizer, who arranged for him to appear before the Committee of War and Security. At a

  hearing on 8 April seventy-three questions were put to him as to the conduct of the war. The questioning was barely polite. Miranda knew that his life was on the line, not just his command. He

  impressed his interrogators with his calm and eloquent replies, and it appeared that he would be exonerated.




  But the Terror was gathering momentum. The radicals alleged that Danton had been conniving with Dumouriez – a charge which may have been true – and insisted that ordinary soldiers

  should testify against the actions of their superiors. The ultra radical Montagnards, with Robespierre as their new leader, attempted to incriminate Danton and his Girondin followers, the faction

  with which Miranda was identified. But Danton dodged the attack by himself joining the Montagnards and denouncing his former Girondin followers, among them Miranda, whose supporters Brissot and

  Petiot sprang to his defence against Danton and Robespierre.




  On 19 April 1793 the much-feared Chief Prosecutor of the Revolution, Fouquier-Tinville, ordered Miranda’s arrest, on charges of conspiring with the British government

  as well as with the Russians and the North Americans, and of aiding Dumouriez in his counterrevolutionary attempt to reinstate the monarchy. It now seemed all too likely that Miranda, who had led

  his men with brilliance, even perhaps turning the tables in the war, and who had acted with impeccable correctness in spurning Dumouriez’s overtures, would be guillotined on trumped-up

  charges.




  On 20 April he was taken before a revolutionary Tribunal presided over by Montane, with Fouquier-Tinville prosecuting. Miranda surprised those present by his calm demeanour and his eloquent and

  natural way of defending himself. He was also vigorously defended by Chaveau-Lagarde (who later attempted unsuccessfully to save Queen Marie Antoinette from the tumbrils): ‘An irreproachable

  republican,’ he argued, never fears death but cannot bear the suspicion of crime, and for a month Miranda has been suspected.’




  Fouquier-Tinville rose and, in the precise, reedy voice which had condemned so many to the blade, accused Miranda of negligence in the war, and of being Dumouriez’s chief co-conspirator.

  Meanwhile Marat’s rabid newspaper, L’Ami du Peuple, had charged Miranda with looting Ambères after its capture. A procession of hostile witnesses was led by General La

  Hove and General Eustace. It was alleged that Miranda had a son and a brother-in-law in Maastricht, hence his discontinuance of the siege. A sergeant testified that the Dutch considered him

  ‘better than a Dutchman’. The national gendarmene, whose excesses he had tried to contain at Antwerp, accused him of a succession of crimes.




  When it was Miranda’s turn to speak he calmly recalled that, far from being Dumouriez’s accomplice, he had been his accuser. He had withdrawn from Maastricht because he was

  out-numbered, and not on ground of his choosing: ‘You cannot win when you don’t have the advantage of the ground.’ Outraged, General Eustace demanded to speak again, saying that

  it had been his honour ‘to detest Miranda’. Remarkably, the acid, razor-sharp Fouquier-Tinville cut him down, saying he could not call an openly prejudiced witness. The defence witnesses were called. One revealed that at the time the King’s head was struck off by the guillotine Miranda had declared to his soldiers, ‘This is a great blow for the

  politics of France.’ The American revolutionary Thomas Paine himself came from London to argue with passion that Miranda would never have betrayed France, ‘because the cause of the

  French Revolution is intimately tied to the favourite cause of his heart, the independence of Spanish America’.




  Summing up, Chaveau-Lagarde claimed that no defence was necessary, because Miranda had already defended himself so eloquently; he should be ‘listened to with all the dignity that became

  true republicans and with the full confidence the court deserves’. As the judges withdrew and the prisoners were led away, sobbing could be heard from among the crowds of onlookers. When the

  judges had filed back, Miranda was declared innocent. The court erupted in applause, in which even Fouquier-Tinville joined. Miranda rose to declare passionately that ‘this brilliant act of

  justice must restore the respect of my fellow citizens for me, whose loss would have been more painful for me even than death’. On 16 May he was released and carried through crowds in the

  streets. He was one of the very few to stare the Terror in the face, to come under the shadow of the guillotine, and yet to escape.




  Now calm and commonsense deserted him. Believing himself immune from further persecution, he withdrew triumphantly to a luxurious château in Menilmontant to rest, and to defend his

  reputation against the unceasing vituperation of Marat’s newspaper. The Montagnards were still raining attacks upon him as ‘an intriguer, a creator of faction’ who, it was

  alleged, had bribed the jurors to let him go. His wisest course of action would have been to leave at once for England.




  In 1793, Paché, former minister of war and an implacable foe, was appointed Mayor of Paris. Three days later Miranda’s château was surrounded by guards, and Paché

  placed him under house arrest. This did not stop Miranda receiving friends and female company alike. When a large number of sealed boxes arrived, the police suspected them of containing arms and

  ammunition; they were crammed with books. A servant loyal to his enemies was planted in the household; Miranda knew this, but pretended otherwise.




  On 9 July he was arrested again and conducted to the prison of La Force, from which very few ever emerged free. Robespierre himself now demanded the guillotine for

  Miranda’s alleged connivance in a royalist plot. On 13 July he was brought before the Convention and again made a stirring defence, accusing his gaolers of violating the constitution

  ‘because the body politic is oppressed when any citizen is oppressed’. He complained that he had been accused of seeking to flee the country, when he had neither

  horses nor a carriage and could not move two leagues out of Paris without permission from the government. He accused the dreaded Public Safety Committee of tyranny, in disregarding his previous

  acquittal.




  Miranda had asked his doctor to prepare a dose of poison so that he could cheat the guillotine, undoubtedly a wise precaution: compared to a single major prison in Paris before the Revolution,

  the Bastille, there were now twenty prisons, containing about 40,000 people; 7,000 had already been guillotined; Paris was in the grip of fear.




  A club-like atmosphere pervaded La Force. Miranda beautifully caught the mood when he wrote that it was as though he were making a long journey by boat, during which it was necessary to fill the

  tiresome emptiness of time with the search for useful knowledge without knowing if the journey would end in death at sea or happy arrival in port’. The Marquis du Châtelet became an

  inseparable companion; the two men talked at length of art, literature and travel; they played cards with packs from which, to their amusement, the court cards had been removed, and read Tacitus

  and Cicero. One day du Châtelet decided to swallow poison, leaving his few goods to Miranda and the other prisoners. The weeks passed slowly by.




  In August Miranda appeared before the Revolution’s Special Crimmal Tribunal for investigation. In September he went before the National Convention again, when he asked to be allowed to go

  into exile in order to pursue his cause against the Spanish government. The French could not make up their minds what to do about him, but they wanted him out of the way. Miranda’s

  frustration grew more desperate and bitter. He railed against the ‘infamous’ Robespierre, the ‘imposter’ Saint-Just, and against Danton, who had betrayed him. The police

  investigated the source of Miranda’s funds, but found no sign that they had been acquired illegally (his money came from his general’s pay, and rich patrons). The months continued to

  drift slowly by, and Miranda made new friends in gaol, including the celebrated antiquarian and savant Antoine-Chrysostome Quatremère de Quincy.




  In December 1794 Miranda loosed a formidable broadside against the Convention, denouncing Robespierre’s ‘execrable maxim that the individual’s interest must be sacrificed to

  the public interest’, an ‘infernal’ idea that had given tyrants from Tiberius to Philip II the justification for their misrule. His letter ended, with courageous dignity: ‘I

  do not ask for mercy from the Convention. I demand the most rigorous justice for myself and for those who have dared . . . to compromise the dignity of the French people and poison the national

  image.’ For a man under the shadow of revolutionary Terror and in gaol for more than a year, Miranda showed an admirably robust and indomitable spirit.




  On 26 January 1795 Miranda was finally released from La Force, and promptly installed himself in a splendid appartement at Rue St-Florentin costing £1,400 a year – a

  staggering sum for those days. He was determined to make up for the deprivations of the past year and a half, of which sex – although he seems to have had access to some women in prison

  – was probably the most terrible. Women, the theatre and elegant parties were resumed with renewed vigour.




  In prison he had met ‘Delfina’, the beautiful Marquise de Custine, whose husband, the famous general, was also in gaol. Miranda now embarked on a torrid affair with her – until

  he discovered she had also satisfied the lusts of Chateaubriand, Alexandre de Beauharnais, M. de Grouchy, Comte Louis de Segur, Boissy d’Anglais and Dr Korev. Passionate and intelligent but

  undoubtedly a nymphomaniac, Delfina failed to win him back to her bed, but they continued to be seen together, and quarrelled with the intensity of lovers. Supposedly an illegitimate daughter of

  Louis XV, Delfina was the greatest French coquette of her time and, according to a contemporary wit, ‘loved everyone, even her husband’. She showered Miranda with letters, saw him

  frequently, and was his last companion when he left France.




  Miranda’s sojourn in prison did not deter him from meddling in revolutionary politics. Having twice escaped the guillotine he believed himself a charmed man, and now

  pursued his own moderate liberal agenda, which was anathema to extremists inside and outside the government. In particular, he showed an exemplary tolerance, in an anti-clerical age, of the more

  liberal-minded among the clergy; and (in spite of his youthful disdain of the man) he lauded the qualities of George Washington, who ‘had obtained the confidence of his fellow countrymen not

  from his brilliance, which he cloaks, but from the calmness of his spirit and uprightness of his intentions’. Miranda’s views on the direction of the French Revolution were succinctly

  expressed: ‘I love freedom, but not a freedom based on blood and pitiless towards sex or age, like that which has been the order of the day in this country until recently.’ He made no

  secret of the fact that he wanted to hold office in post-revolutionary France.




  Miranda seems to have been sucked into an alliance between the moderates and the royalists as one of two possible leaders of a military coup. A prominent royalist remarked contemptuously that it

  would be astonishing if the King of France should be replaced ‘by a Spanish Creole, the lieutenant of a provincial regiment of his Catholic Majesty’s, and a total stranger in France

  where he has lived only a few years and where he has only been known since the Revolution’.




  As the showdown between royalists and republicans approached, it is unclear whether Miranda sat on the fence or took part. When the government sent 1,500 troops to close down a radical

  ‘electoral body’ gathered in a French theatre at two in the morning on 4 October, revolutionary newspapers reported Miranda to have been in charge of the illicit proceedings.




  Miranda went underground, was accused of being one of the principal conspirators, and then emerged to declare that he had taken no part in the parliament. Arrested and ordered out of the

  country, he secured a stay of execution of the order and continued to live in his usual style, but always followed by a gendarme. He managed to give him the slip one night and went into hiding,

  whence he bombarded the press with letters defending himself and attacking his enemies. He was eventually given official permission to stay, and continued to survive through the after-shocks of

  revolutionary France, always active in half-plots, always preaching his own brand of liberal anti-monarchism and anti-extremism.




  In September 1797 another alleged monarchist conspiracy was suppressed by the government, and again Miranda was named as one of the plotters. Once more he went underground, once more the police

  were ordered to hold the ‘Peruvian’ general if he had not, as was widely believed, escaped to Athens. In fact, at last wholly disillusioned with the French Revolution, fearing another

  long spell in prison and especially angry that France had formed an alliance with the Spain he so hated, he had resolved to go to Britain.




  Passionately he kissed Delfma goodbye and, wearing a wig and green spectacles and passing as a minor businessman, took a coach to Calais, then embarked on a Danish boat, arriving in Dover in

  January 1798. A customs inspection there found that his case had a false bottom, filled with papers. After discussion, documents were furnished for him to travel to London, where he set about

  organizing his network of contacts and friends in South America and in Europe.




 




     

  




  Chapter 6




  THE TERROR




  During Miranda’s first arrest and trial, Paris was reeling from the battle between Girondins and Jacobins which would eventually culminate in the climax of the Revolution

  – an orgy of blood. The Girondins still had a majority in the Convention. When news of Dumouriez’s plot leaked out, the Jacobins instantly accused the Girondins of being behind him. The

  Jacobins planned an ambush on the Assembly on 10 March 1793, and intended to seize many Girondin deputies by force.




  Gaining intelligence of this, the Girondins launched a counterattack, passing a motion of censure on Marat, who had urged the people to rise against the Assembly. The radical leader was forced

  into hiding. The Girondins were determined to take the initiative against their conspiratorial rivals, but did not summon the courage to move the Assembly from Paris, the Jacobin stronghold.




  The Jacobins now assembled a small, well-organized army of around 2,000 in the Champs Elysée in central Paris, accompanied by their Paris mob: this force had guns and howitzers and

  surrounded the unwary deputies. The leaders of the uncommitted deputies, ‘the Plain’, urged the Girondins to give themselves up.




  When the Girondins asked to leave the Assembly, they were stopped by soldiers: ‘Return to your posts: the people denounce the traitors who are in the heart of your assembly and will not

  depart until their will is accomplished.’ Twenty-two Girondin leaders were arrested, being convicted of ‘royalism’. The Girondins were prevented from speaking in their own defence

  at the subsequent tribunal.




  Some forty-two deputies were executed, committed suicide, or fled abroad. Brissot went wretchedly to his execution along with Vergniaud and the others, and even

  Velaze’s corpse – he had killed himself with a dagger when sentence was pronounced – was guillotined! The wife of Robert declared memorably on her way to the scaffold, as she

  passed the Statue of Liberty: ‘Ah, Liberty. What crimes are committed in your name.’




  The Jacobins were left in undisputed control at the heart of central government, if not the country, a classic instance of a revolution devouring its children. The legal system was all but

  non-existent, religion outlawed, taxes uncollected and the assignat worthless currency. Revolutionary terror alone reigned, confiscating the necessary revenues, putting to death generals who did

  not achieve great victories, and some who did who were thought to pose a threat to the government. General was condemned, remarking philosophically that ‘France is a woman and my hair is

  going grey’.




  The new government was run by the ten to twelve-man Committee of Public Safety and the slightly less powerful Committee of Public Security. Husbands were compelled to pin outside their homes the

  names of all those inside, in a forerunner of modern totalitarian methods of state control. Some 300,000, at a conservative estimate, were armed as stormtroopers of the Revolution, a third of them

  women. A revolutionary Tribunal was set up, consisting of six judges, two public assistants and, as a formality, twelve jurymen.




  The two Jacobin trump cards were a promise to suppress any discontent in the army by declaring it in a state of mutiny, which would condemn opponents to the guillotine; and an exhortation to the

  poor to declare war on the rich. In fact any external sign of wealth was regarded as sufficient grounds for condemnation. Égalité had replaced Liberté as the

  keyword of the Revolution.




  The Jacobins had an extensive propaganda network throughout the country, as well as an enormous spy network. A decree of terror was issued by the Committee of Public Security to its angels of

  death:




  

    

      Let your energy awaken anew as the term of your labour approaches. The Convention charges you to complete the purification and reorganization of the

      constituted authorities with the least possible delay, and to report the conclusion of these two operations before the end of the next month. A simple measure may effect the desired

      purification. Convoke the people in the popular societies – Let the public functionaries appear before them – Interrogate the people on the subject of their conduct, and let their

      judgment dictate yours.


    


  




  At Nantes whole families were put aboard boats in the Loire and the craft scuttled: this was labelled ‘republican baptism’. Men and women were stripped naked, bound

  together and killed: this was dubbed ‘republican marriage’. The revolutionary army enforced order when necessary.




  The assassination of Marat in his bath by Charlotte Corday, whose mind was partly unhinged in a rather different manner to his own, left just Danton and Robespierre as the Revolution’s two

  consuls. The latter soon obtained evidence of Danton’s monumental corruption and threatened to expose this to force him into retirement. Meanwhile, in his paranoia, Robespierre sought to

  destroy also the government of Paris, whose men had been the means by which the Jacobins had seized power.




  The Jacobins also made an extraordinary attack on organized religion, forcing the bishop of Paris to denounce Christianity as priestly superstition and to deny the existence of God. ‘The

  Goddess of Reason’ – in fact a dancing girl at the Opera – was welcomed into the Assembly (where it was said she was already familiar with several deputies). The Paris commune had

  church bells cast into cannon and confiscated all silver and gold. Hebert, the commune leader, was the guiding force behind this. Robespierre, however, saw the excesses of the commune as an excuse

  further to impose his own order and in March 1794 he had the commune leaders arrested on ludicrous charges of conspiring with the British government. The revolutionary army was also disbanded as

  being a Parisian rather than national force.




  Danton at last decided that too much blood had been shed, and spoke out in favour of clemency and the defence of property. Robespierre moved more quickly and stealthily. On 31 March he had his great rival, the most formidable orator in the Assembly and until recently the effective ruler of France, arrested. Danton went to his trial and execution with all the contempt

  that that formidable but deeply flawed figure was capable of. Of Robespierre he remarked: ‘The cowardly poltroon. I am the only person who could have commanded enough influence to save

  him.’ The words were prophetic: without Danton, Robespierre was merely an ideologue and police chief, with little power base. Danton, however unattractive, had been the true leader of the

  Revolution; Robespierre was a brittle, sarcastic little man who was at ease only in small gatherings and had few political skills. Yet he was a political thinker of note, and his influence on both

  the course of the Revolution and on one of his followers, the young Napoleon Bonaparte, was to be seminal.




  The government of France was now under the control of the twelve-man Committee of Public Safety, whose most powerful personality was Robespierre. Others include Louis de Saint-Just, who believed

  in the ‘complete destruction of everything that is opposed to the committee’, Herault de Sechelles, a rake, Collot d’Herbois, a psychopathic former minor playwright, as well as,

  later, Louis David, a superb painter and a fanatic who declared ‘let us grind plenty of red’.




  Robespierre, by contrast, was a brilliant political theoretician with a puritanical bent: his ideas in some ways were almost Marxist with their concept of the ‘general interest’.

  Wisdom, he asserted, ‘has disappeared in the individual and can only be found in the masses and the general interest’. For Robespierre this authoritarian view was an almost exact

  substitute for the old monarchical theory of personal supremacy: the People, in an abstract conception, had taken the place of the King. The movement was above the law, and was the law. The reason

  why the people had this power was because they had ‘virtue’, which equated with love of the fatherland – not obeisance to the King, as it had been up till then. For him the

  fatherland ‘was the country of which one is a citizen and a member of the sovereign state’.




  With great insight he wrote in 1784 that England was really a republic and he was not opposed to constitutional monarchy in principle. He advocated universal male suffrage, along with a tiny

  minority of deputies to the original Assembly, as early as 1789: he also fought for the right of excluded classes, such as the Jews, to the vote. Remarkably, he sought to extend

  political rights to the blacks in the West Indies. He argued that any government decree that used the word slave would only promote French dishonour. His concept of representative government was

  also advanced for the time: he espoused frequent direct elections, so that the General Will could prevail over the selfish individual wills of the members, public access to parliament, and

  publicity for the proceedings. He was also committed to economic equality in a way that none of his contemporaries were. He advocated the subordination of the executive power to the

  legislature.




  All of these were extraordinarily advanced ideas for the time. However, he also believed in the absolute sovereignty of parliament, as advocated by the Jacobins, and apologized for popular

  violence: ‘If some disturbances have taken place, they should be pardoned after so many centuries of servitude and misery.’ Like Rousseau, Robespierre believed that most people were

  good by nature – but only in a democracy. ‘The people are just and in general their government ... only stakes the guilty. When despots make revolutions against the people, their

  revolutionary masters, [they] are no more than instruments of cruelty and oppression; but when the people take action against despotism and the aristocracy, revolutionary measures are no more than

  healthy measures and acts of universal benevolence.’




  He took this further. Although he defended the institution of property, he argued that the rich had taken it too far: he even argued against the bourgeoisie – by which he meant the wealthy

  middle-class: ‘To defeat the bourgeoisie, the people must be rallied.’ He favoured equality of inheritance to break down the big estates and progressive taxation. Robespierre advocated

  free trade, but only up to a point – he feared it could degenerate into greed and speculation under the ancien régime.




  Most controversially, he believed that in times of revolution, terror was needed to supplant virtue: he defined terror as the application of ‘proper, severe and inflexible justice’.

  This he inflicted through setting up the revolutionary Tribunals of March 1793. ‘People,’ he declared, ‘do not judge like judicial courts; they do not hand down sentences. They throw lightning bolts. Revolution is the war of freedom against its enemies. Revolutionary government gives good citizens all natural protection; it gives only death to enemies of

  the people.’




  Robespierre was remarkable for embracing, at least a century before such views became significant, the Communist concept of the party as the embodiment of the people and the Fascist commitment

  to pure nationalism. If many of his ideas were also those of constitutional democracy well in advance of its time, he was also the forerunner of totalitarianism. Napoleon was at first to be closely

  allied with the Robespierre faction, then reject it: but the debt he owed to its extraordinarily prescient ideology cannot be doubted, both on the popular dictatorial and the nationalist score,

  which was to be enshrined in his concept of emperorship. Napoleon was never a profound political thinker, and it is clear that he was hugely influenced by Robespierre’s political philosophy.

  It is doubly ironic that the incorruptible’s’ final warning was against everything that Napoleon was later to personify.




  He delivered an extraordinary address in which he proposed the worship of a Supreme Being and set aside a day in every ten to worship him, honouring a different virtue each time. Robespierre

  staged a procession, with himself leading, dressed in a purple robe, and the people following bearing fruit and vegetables, as though in a kind of pagan ntual. It was hard not to believe that he

  had become quite mad. The ceremony attracted ridicule among atheists and the condemnation of Catholics.




  Robespierre now issued a law giving his underlings the power to arrest virtually anyone at will and sentence them to death for spreading false news, for showing delicacy in manner and even for

  speaking correctly. This passed only with huge dispute in the Assembly, many of whose own members feared being so arrested. When Robespierre proposed the arrest of one of the most vigorous

  enforcers of the Terror, as being a sympathizer of Danton, he found himself for the first time in a minority on the Committee of Public Safety.




  Robespierre descended to the Assembly and denounced the two committees, as well as a host of other institutions. This proved too much even for the usually terrorized Assembly, which erupted in a

  storm of criticism – each member fearing for his life. Only Robespierre’s loyal brother, Augustin, and two supporters, Saint-Just and Couthon, spoke in his favour.

  He then appealed to the Jacobin clubs, which volunteered to move on the two committees and arrest their members.




  On 25 July a crowd tried to rescue eighty people being taken to the guillotine, but they were prevented. Robespierre sought the same day to speak to the convention, but his right-hand man

  Saint-Just was interrupted by Tallien. When the pale and trembling Robespierre rose he was greeted with shouts of ‘Down with the tyrant.’ Tallien said he would kill Robespierre if

  necessary. When the latter tried to speak he was shouted down. His shrill voice screaming, ‘parliament of assassins, for the last time I seek the privilege of speech’, was the last

  heard of him before his voice gave out.




  Robespierre and his handful of supporters were seized and marched to the prison of Paris, where the gaolers refused to accept him, such was their terror of him. He was led to the offices of the

  Committee of Public Safety. A group of his supporters managed to free him and tried to take him back to the Hôtel de Ville, where 2,000 loyalists and artillerymen were waiting to acclaim

  him.




  The Convention, learning of his release, passed a decree outlawing him and his supporters and demanded that he be immediately executed. Fighting seemed about to break out on the streets of

  Paris. Cannon were brought up by Convention loyalists. Augustin Robespierre tried to kill himself by jumping from a window, but survived. Saint-Just and Couthon both tried unsuccessfully to kill

  themselves. Robespierre fired a gun which badly wounded his lower jaw. When the besiegers broke into the dreadful scene, they seized these wretched men and earned them straight to execution. The

  cloth holding Robespierre’s shattered jaw together was torn off on the scaffold. He issued a shout of agony, and was promptly guillotined.




  It was widely assumed that he had been executed so that others nearly as badly steeped in blood, such as Tallien and Barras, who had headed the assailants at the Hôtel de Ville, could

  seize power for themselves. But a general outcry against the Terror was taking place, and both felt under threat, as did others. Although a handful of Robespierre’s

  closest supporters were seized, both Tallien and Barras refused to undertake a new wave of Terror against their own enemies – which required considerable courage, as the two could have been

  swept away. A general amnesty was proclaimed.




  Relatives of those guillotined – the Avengers – toured the streets wearing black collars and with their hair plaited and tied up as if in preparation for the guillotine, setting upon

  the Jacobin bands still daring to show themselves. The Jacobin Club held a session to try and spark off a new revolution, but the Avengers broke up the sitting. A handful of Robespierre’s

  closest associates were guillotined, including Caner, the Butcher of Nantes, and Fouquier-Tinville, the implacable public prosecutor.




  On 20 May 1795 the Jacobins staged one last insurrection, breaking into the Convention and killing a deputy and being dispersed at length. Two days of noting followed. A detachment of rural

  guards was sent to clear up the suburb of Faubourg St Antoine and the mob there were forced to surrender their arms. Another group of hard-line Jacobins committed mass suicide rather than be sent

  to the gallows. The Jacobins left only their memory – egalitariamsm, revolutionary terror, escalating mass purges – to inspire future generations of murderous revolutionaries,

  particularly Communists in Russia, China, Kampuchea, and elsewhere.




  In one key sense the French Revolution was very different to the English and American Revolutions: offshore Britain and distant America did not threaten the peace and stability

  of Europe. Cromwell’s few interventions into continental politics were not regarded as furnishing a serious danger of infecting the continent; in any event the monarchy was restored after a

  decade. The American Revolution, as we have seen, had a huge impact on France but not one – to their own cost – taken seriously by the royal family and court.




  The French Revolution was something else: in order to save themselves, its leaders seized on the idea of national expansion against the hostile royal powers surrounding it and sought to export

  its revolutionary creed, threatening to spread the contagion across Europe. When the success of Dumounez’s levée en masse became apparent, there seemed no

  limit to the possibilities of French domination of Europe. A new weapon, the mass popular army, was sure to defeat traditional aristocratic armies with their antiquated tactics and fighting

  seasons. From being an egalitarian revolution, it quickly became a nationalist one as well.




 




     

  




  Chapter 7




  THE BOY FROM AJACCIO




  At the time of the tumultuous events in Paris and Versailles in 1789, an obscure twenty-year-old second lieutenant, Napoleone Buonaparte, was studying and writing essays in the

  tiny garrison town of Valence near the French coast close to his homeland of Corsica. The young man had ambitions to become a writer and was deeply studious. He read widely: La Chaumière

  Indienne, a pastoral idyll by Bernardin de St Pierre, Buffon’s Histoire Naturelle, Plato’s Republic, Montigny’s History of the Arabs and Barrow’s

  New and Impartial History of England, from which he made notes approving such parliamentarians as Simon de Montfort and Pym. For Charles I and James II he expressed contempt. He noted

  that:




  

    

      The principal advantage of the English Constitution consists in the fact that the national spirit is always in full vitality. For a long spell of years, the King can

      doubtless arrogate to himself more authority than he ought to have, may even use his great power to commit injustice, but the cries of the nation soon change to thunder, and sooner or later the

      King yields.


    


  




  More bizarrely he observed from Buffon’s volume:




  

    

      Some men are born with only one testicle, others have three; they are stronger and more vigorous. It is astonishing how much this part of the body contributes to a

      man’s strength and courage. What a difference between a bull and an ox, a ram and a sheep, a cock and a capon!


    


  




  He also began a history of his native Corsica and wrote a short story in English, based on Barrow about the Earl of Essex, murdered by Charles II and the

  Duke of York. This somewhat lurid tale, reminiscent of the Corsican vendettas he was familiar with, was balanced by an essay on happiness, in which he conceded to feeling most satisfied meditating

  on the origin of nature at night and the joys of having ‘a wife and children, father and mother, brothers and sisters, a friend!’




  Above these joys, however, is love of country, ‘that love of beauty in all its energy, the pleasure of making a whole nation happy’. The true patriot ensures ‘the happiness of

  a hundred families’, in contrast to the vain patriot devoured by ambition ‘with its pale complexion, wild eyes, hurried footsteps, jerky gestures and sardonic laugh’ – an

  almost exact description of the author in his twenties. Perhaps the most significant essay of all was a ferocious defence of Rousseau’s Social Contract in which he argued that

  Christianity was possibly harmful to men: for by ‘making men look forward to a later life in the next world it made them too submissive to the evils of the present’. He particularly

  attacked Protestantism, which by allowing freedom of thought broke up the unity of society and caused schisms and civil wars. Instead it was government that held the key to happiness: it must

  ‘lend assistance to the feeble against the strong, and by this means allow everyone to enjoy a sweet tranquillity, the rule of happiness’. Religion was of no importance, indeed possibly

  harmful.




  Napoleone Buonaparte had been born twenty years before the French Revolution and baptized in the Church of the Assumption of the Blessed Virgin Mary on 15 August 1769 in the small port of

  Ajaccio in Corsica. He was incontestably of Italian blood on both sides. The Buonapartes came from Tuscany where one ancestor, Ugo Buonaparte, had been a merchant in the service of the Duke of

  Swabia in 1122. The name Buonaparte derived from the good party of imperial knights who fought for the unity of Italy against the Pope. Some 350 years later a member of the clan, Francesco

  Buonaparte, sailed to Corsica where his descendants established themselves as lawyers working for the local government.




  On Napoleon’s mother’s side the Ramolinos were of higher origins: they were descended from the Counts of Collalto in Lombardy and her father, in the family

  tradition, was an army officer who commanded the Ajaccio garrisons and became inspector-general of roads and bridges, probably because he had been instructed in civil engineering – although

  there were few enough of either in Corsica. He died early and when his daughter Letizia was only five years old his wife married a Swiss naval officer, Captain Franz Fesch, who served in the

  Genoese navy and had been disinherited by his father for converting to Catholicism – which may account for the young Napoleon’s anti-Protestant bias. Letizia was no great beauty: she

  had wondrously wide eyes and dark-brown hair, but she was small – a touch over five foot – and had a long, somewhat stern face as well as a prominent pointed nose and a small mouth. The

  combination gave her a shrewish appearance. She was uneducated but extraordinarily devout, attending mass every day.




  The two families, of Italian origin, regarded themselves as among the most patrician on the island. The Ramolinos, being of superior blood but poorer means, eventually settled upon the

  Buonapartes for their daughter. Carlo Buonaparte, the eighteen-year-old boy, was tall with fine eyes and a prominent nose, and a pursuer of women. Carlo had studied law at Pisa University but,

  becoming rich on the premature death of his father when he was fourteen, had returned to Corsica to take charge of the middling family estate, a large house, two fine vineyards and some arable and

  grazing land.




  Carlo fell in love with a beautiful girl from the Forcioli family, but family pressure induced him to marry Letizia, who was just fourteen years old – not an unusual age for a girl to wed

  in those days. She brought a modest dowry of thirty-one acres, a mill and a bakery. It is possible that they were not married in church but through family agreement and their consent, despite

  opposition from some of the Ramolinos, fearing that Carlo was too low-born and unreliable; Carlo too seems to have had his doubts.




  The teenagers, after their marriage, set up house in Carlo’s home, where the ground floor was occupied by his mother and a wealthy invalid uncle, Luciano, Archdeacon of Ajaccio, and the

  top floor by tiresome cousins. It was a crowded household. However, they had an annual income of around £10,000 from their properties, a princely sum in those days, and

  Carlo’s employment generated more. Letizia had two servants and a wet nurse. In poverty-ridden Corsica, the Buonapartes were considered well off; in tiny Ajaccio they were one of the richest

  families. They were certainly regarded as aristocracy as far as the island was concerned, and of minor noble birth as far as Italy and France were concerned, although they would be viewed as little

  more than middling gentry in England.




  Tragedy, as so often in those days, started early: Letizia had a son, named Napoleone, who immediately died in 1765; a daughter also died. Carlo, strong-willed and amorous, then left Corsica for

  Rome at the age of twenty where he set up home with an older, marriage woman. He lived in that turbulent and beautiful capital for two years where, it was later claimed, he became Corsican emissary

  to the Pope, pleading for independence; this seems highly unlikely.




  After seducing a virgin he had to return to Corsica under a cloud and there his good looks secured him the post of secretary to the homosexual head of the Corsican independence movement,

  Pasquale Paoli. Paoli, a huge man with red hair and blue eyes, who wore an embossed green uniform, lived in Corte, a fortress in the interior. An over-powering personality who had served the King

  of Naples, he had taken up arms against Corsica’s rulers, the Genoese, since 1729, as the leader of an independence movement for this rocky backwater with its 130,000 people and the two small

  towns of Bastia, with 5,000 people, and Ajaccio, with 4,000. He captured the mountainous interior and drove the Genoese into the ports. Paoli secured the support of the peasantry as he fought for

  common pastoral land in the lowlands and primitive smallholdings in the highlands. He became admired throughout Europe, with Rousseau and James Boswell as his admirers, the former seeing him as an

  embodiment of the General Will, the latter as an expression of the traditional Scottish highlander.




  In 1756, Corsica had been abruptly ceded by decadent Genoa to the French King, Louis XV: the Genoese had effectively lost control of the island and the newly expansionist French coveted it as a

  strategic point just off their coast. There was a general uprising against them not just in the mountains but in the towns. Paoli led the uprising, and Buonaparte, a young man with a good fortune

  from one of the best families in Ajaccio, was an extremely useful supporter. Meanwhile Buonaparte’s wife had a son, Giuseppe (Joseph), the first to survive infancy.

  However, the French poured in troops and crushingly defeated the Corsicans on 8 May 1769 at the battle of Ponte Nuovo.




  Carlo and Letizia, as prominent independence activists, had to flee into the mountains to join Paoli at Corte: she was heavily pregnant at the time. There Paoli had to accept the inevitable,

  surrendered and went into exile in England along with more than 300 of his supporters. Carlo chose to stay on the island. His return to Ajaccio along precipitous mountain paths, with the pregnant

  Letizia cradling the infant Joseph in her arms, was to be a memory for the rest of her life. She went into labour while at mass on the Feast of the Assumption at Ajaccio Cathedral. She was attended

  by her sister-in-law and the baby was born, big-headed but short-limbed and weak. He was named Napoleone after a much-loved great uncle who had died recently. It was an uncommon name deriving from

  a Greek saint who had died in Alexandria under the Emperor Diocletian.




  The little Napoleone was what today would be called a ‘handful’. His elder brother Giuseppe was serious and quiet: but the infant Napoleone fought him fiercely. He was nicknamed

  Rabulione – the ‘meddler’ – and went to school at the age of five. His language was Italian. It was a mixed school run by nuns: he held hands with a girl called Giacommetta

  and a little verse ran: Napoleone di mezza calzetta fa Vamore a Giacominetta: Napoleone with his half socks makes love to Giacommetta. Maybe the boy was scruffy and wore his socks around his

  ankles, but in Italy mezza calzetta is the most common sneer towards those of a non-aristocratic background. Napoleone was extraordinarily fierce as a boy and was often in trouble for

  fighting. Afterwards, at the age of seven, he went to a Jesuit school.




  Letizia was an extremely fierce and demanding mother. She was obsessed with cleanliness, forced him to attend mass with slaps, and would beat him with a whip on the slightest pretext, such as

  stealing food, bad behaviour in church or, on one occasion, laughing at a crippled grandmother. Worse, she was obsessed with outward show: ‘When you grow up, you’ll be poor. But

  it’s better to have a fine room for receiving friends, a fine suit of clothes and a fine horse, so that you put up a brave show – even if you have to live off dry

  bread.’ She would send her children to bed without supper sometimes so that they could learn ‘to bear discomfort without showing it’. Yet she lavished money on keeping the house

  looking smart.




  She would force Napoleone to spy on his father, who liked to play cards for money with his friends in the town cafés; the boy hated the task. She believed in Corsican traditions, which

  were violent and based on revenge. The society was alive with vendettas, and Corsicans grew their beards – barbe di vendetta – until a perceived injustice was avenged. Corsican

  poetry was based on anguish about death from vendettas; and death was a local obsession. It was foreshadowed in folklore by owls screeching and dogs howling, a drum beating or a light shining on a

  house all night.




  Letizia’s husband Carlo was not a prepossessing character. Having been Paoli’s devoted supporter, with remarkable speed he turned himself into a lackey for the French. As a lawyer he

  was petty-minded and ruthless, serving his own interests, seeking ownership of an estate for which his claim was dubious and then suing Letizia’s impoverished grandfather, aged eighty-four,

  for not delivering part of her dowry. He was appointed assessor of the Royal Jurisdiction of Ajaccio by the French ruler of Corsica, the Comte de Marbeuf.




  Marbeuf was an old goat: he lived with a mistress, Madame de Varenries, known as the Cleopatra of Corsica, and when she died in 1776 he pursued the strong-willed Letizia, who by now had had her

  third son, Lucien. The following year he secured Carlo’s appointment as a deputy for the nobility representing Corsica at Versailles, and the young man spent two years away while his patron

  seduced his wife.




  Although Letizia’s next child, her first daughter, Maria Anna Alisa, born in 1777, was Carlo’s, the next child, Louis, was almost certainly Marbeuf s – physically resembling

  him and intemperate by nature. Carlo was probably aware of the relationship and acquiesced in it as the price for advancement – not that he was anyway faithful to Letizia. Marbeuf repaid

  Carlo for his compliance by securing a schooling for his two sons at Autun as a preliminary to Giuseppe’s being sent to a seminary at Aix and Napoleone to the military academy at Brienne in

  May 1779 – the boy having evinced an early fascination for playing with toy soldiers.




  Arriving there the boy had his eyes opened to a far wider world than his limited and strict Corsican childhood: travelling across the prosperous flatlands to Aix and then up the Rhône and

  the Saône rivers, the nine-year-old was awestruck. The château of Brienne was at the foot of a hill, and had recently been converted from a monastic seminary to a military one. It held

  around fifty pupils still under the control of two priests.




  Napoleone was locked into a cubicle six-foot square at ten o’clock at night, to be awoken at 6 a.m. Life was tough, but Napoleone was an exemplary student, excelling in mathematics and

  learning French, at which he was not so good: his pronunciation was always to be Italianate. He was studious, devoting himself to the classics and to reading. Napoleone, being a Corsican whose

  first language was Italian, and olive-skinned by comparison with the other children as well as poorer than most, and being on a scholarship, was immediately subjected to bullying and snobbery by

  the mainland children; but his sheer toughness saw him through.




  Four credible stories are told about his school career. When he was made to kneel in a dunce’s uniform to eat his dinner as punishment for some transgression, he threw a tantrum insisting

  that he would kneel ‘only to God’. On another occasion when fireworks exploded next to the plot Napoleone considered his own garden and other children rushed across it in alarm, he

  brandished a hoe at them and forced them out. He also organized a snowfight which turned serious when the boys started to coat stones with snow. At the age of eleven, he was horrified when he heard

  a priest proclaim that Caesar and Cicero were in hell as pagans. He recoiled from the idea that ‘the most virtuous men of antiquity would burn in eternal flames for not having practised a

  religion they knew nothing about’. The logic was faultless, and Napoleone was showing an early admiration for great men. His Christianity was now in doubt.




  A year later he decided he wanted to become a sailor. The verdict from the inspector-general of scholars was largely favourable.




  

    

      M. de Bonaparte (Napoleon), born 15 August 1769. Height 5'6". Constitution: excellent health, docile expression, mild, straightforward, thoughtful.

      Conduct most satisfactory; has always been distinguished for his application in mathematics. He is fairly well acquainted with history and geography. He is weak in all accomplishments –

      drawing, dancing, music and the like. This boy would make an excellent sailor; deserves to be admitted to the school in Paris.


    


  




  Napoleone’s mother Letizia opposed his naval ambitions and secured his entry into the École Royale Militaire de Paris. It was a giant step for him, and he travelled

  by barge along with three schoolfellows under his headmaster, Father Berton. He was astonished by the great city. He gaped ‘in all directions with all the expression to catch a

  pickpocket’. He bought a book, Gil Blas, about a boy who rises from a poor provincial background to become secretary to the prime minister.




  At the école, a fine building opened only thirteen years earlier, he was astonished by the luxury – the blue uniform with red collar and silver braid, the white gloves, the

  gold-and-blue décor of the classrooms, the lavish curtains, the pewter jug and washbasin, the excellent food and choice of puddings. He wrote: ‘We were magnificently fed and served,

  treated in every way like officers possessed of great wealth, certainly greater than that of most of our families and far above what many of us would enjoy later on.’ The number of teaching

  staff outnumbered the 215 cadets, and there were also 150 servants. The routine was, however, much more militaristic than in his previous school, involving drill, shooting practice and military

  exercises, and imprisonment with or without water for even minor infringements, although academic subjects still featured prominently in the curriculum. In winter the youths would simulate an

  attack on a much-fortified town, Fort Timbrune.




  Napoleone was by now adept at making friends and enemies. One who had come from Brienne, Pierre Francois Laugier de Bellecour, had already been upbraided by Napoleone for associating with the

  homosexual set there; he openly did so in Paris. Napoleone, who later confessed to homosexual feelings overcome with difficulty himself, was so angry at his friend’s

  behaviour that he once threw him to the floor. His instructor, Alexandre de Maxis, became another firm friend and would later describe his characteristic pose at school – head bowed, with his

  arms crossed, that would later become a trademark.




  Soon after Napoleone entered the school, his father died of cancer at the spa of Montpellier, where he had gone to seek a cure. Napoleone affected indifference – his hero was Paoli whom

  his father had betrayed by espousing the French invaders – but this may have been no more than a display of the self-discipline in which he was being trained. A furious rejection of his

  father is often cited. When later Montpellier Municipal Council sought to erect a monument to his memory he declared: ‘Forget it: let us not trouble the peace of the dead. Leave their ashes

  in peace. I also lost my grandfather, my great-grandfather, why is nothing done for them?’ But this can equally be seen as a sensible rejection of sycophantic hero-worship, and may have had

  little to do with his true feelings.




  Napoleone was now primarily concerned for his family because the bread-winner had been lost, and it would be years before he would earn a salary. He redoubled his efforts in the school of

  artillery, where he showed himself to be an outstanding mathematician. When tested by the Marquis de Laplane, one of the most brilliant astronomers of the age, he secured an unimpressive

  forty-second place in the artillery examination out of fifty-eight, but was one of the youngest cadets to pass. At the age of sixteen he became an army officer, second lieutenant in the artillery,

  because there was no room in the navy.




 




     

  




  Chapter 8




  ANGRY YOUNG OFFICER




  Napoleon, by now adopting the French style of his name, was appointed to the La Fère Regiment near Valence, conveniently close to Corsica, where he became convinced,

  regarding his older brother Joseph as too weak-minded, that he had prime responsibility to look after his mother and siblings after his father’s death. Sexually, he was curiously reticent for

  someone with rationalist doubts about Christianity: on the way to La Fère, he did not visit a brothel in Lyon as his fellow cadets did. He had already fended off the attempts of an older

  woman to seduce him. When on one occasion he did try to seduce two friendly young women, he was astonished to discover that they were lesbians.




  There have been innumerable studies of Napoleon’s personality: one of the more curious developments in modern historiography is that at the same time as a Marxist school has obsessed

  itself with the impersonal, primarily economic forces that shape history, a kind of sub-Freudian view has sprung up attaching all kinds of psychological motives to the men who, according to the

  previous school, have little real impact upon history. Napoleon was variously said to have developed a mother complex in his youth, to have detested his father, to be a repressed homosexual, and to

  be a deeply embittered dwarf. There was just enough truth in these allegations for the mud to have stuck.




  In fact, three more significant points about Napoleon stand out as he embraced manhood. First, he was highly intelligent and a born mathematician; second, he was highly self-disciplined and

  regarded himself as the natural heir of his father after his death; and, third, he laboured under a huge burden of personal injustice (a so-called inferiority complex, or, in

  British terms, a ‘chip on his shoulder’). This last had little to do with his height. At five foot six inches, he was on the short side, but not strikingly so: most ordinary people were

  little taller, and an average for a well-fed Frenchman aristocrat of the time was five foot nine. His bitterness stemmed from more understandable sources: he came from the newest acquisition of the

  French empire and, in spite of his schooling in France, fiercely believed in the cause of Corsican independence. He had been despised throughout his school career on account of his Corsican

  nationality and olive skin, an insult felt all the more strongly because he regarded himself as a high aristocrat in a way only a provincial from a tiny sea-port can.




  Among the French aristocrats’ sons who were his fellow pupils he was almost beneath contempt. This he reciprocated, referring to aristocrats as ‘imbeciles’, ‘asses’

  and ‘the curse of the nation’. He considered himself high born, with adequate reason, and yet was not treated as part of them – an explosive combination. Tough, surly and from an

  island background where slights were met by a vendetta and even death, he had reason enough for harbouring resentment and deep ambition. Being able and having the luck to be educated at

  France’s most prestigious military academy, he had the perfect means to prove himself: by becoming a leader in the very nation that had annexed his homeland: that would be a triumph of

  vendetta indeed.




  However, none of this early background explains either his rise to power or later actions: there must have been hundreds of officers in the French army with similarly complex lives and motives.

  He had been promoted, partly through luck, partly through ability, so that he had the potential to reach the top of French society; he had no reason to feel ungrateful to the French.




  With the death of his father, he was forced to take lodgings in a noisy first floor café, next door to a billiard room and send back most of his pay to his mother, who had now lost not

  just a husband but a patron, the randy Comte de Marbeuf, who had marriage an eighteen-year-old. Yet countless other young officers were in similar financial straits. There was not much that marked

  out Napoleon from his peers – except his intelligence and overweening curiosity. He was not even especially ambitious at that stage: he wanted to become a writer.




  He was certainly unhappy and depressed during these penurious times. He wrote miserably:




  

    

      Life is a burden to me because I feel no pleasure and because everything is affliction to me. It is a burden to me because the men with whom I have to live, and will

      probably always live, have ways as different from mine as the light of the moon from that of the sun. I cannot then pursue the only manner of living which could enable me to put up with

      existence, whence follows a disgust for everything.


    


  




  Later the same pessimism surfaced in a letter to his hero, Paoli:




  

    

      As the nation was perishing I was born. Thirty thousand Frenchmen were vomited on to our shores, drowning the throne of liberty in waves of blood. Such was the odious sight

      which was the first to strike me. From my birth, my cradle was surrounded by the cries of the dying, the groans of the oppressed and tears of despair. You left our island and with you went all

      hope of happiness. Slavery was the price of our submission. Crushed by the triple yoke of the soldier, the law-maker and the tax inspector, our compatriots live despised.


    


  




  This was remarkable as an expression of his open hatred for the French. He had acquired this when, after Marbeuf s death, Corsica was ruled by spendthrift bureaucrats who had

  cut back payments to his mother for agricultural improvements. During this period, he was given leave to visit his home, where he was shocked to find his mother virtually unaided, and he soon

  procured a servant for her, Severn, who remained with her for forty years. Joseph, who was now studying law in Pisa, returned and the two old playground antagonists got on famously. Napoleon

  travelled to Paris to lobby for a financial grant, which failed. But at the age of eighteen he slept with a girl for the first time in his life, a Breton prostitute.




  He returned to his regiment, which was now stationed at Auxonne. There he had a very relaxed work regime, needing to attend parades just once a week, and made up for it by

  reading and writing. He was a furious worker, rising at 4 am and going to bed at 10 p.m., which brought on physical exhaustion. He filled no fewer than thirty-six notebooks with his thoughts in

  just fifteen months. He contracted malaria. During his studies he read extensively about his own specialist subject, artillery: the main contemporary exponent of this was Jean de Beaumont du Teil,

  who urged a sudden massing of guns in battle, rather as Pierre Bouret, another tactician, urged separating army units to help them move at speed, then massing them before a battle. Both of these

  ideas were to feature hugely in Napoleon’s military campaigns. Du Teil’s brother, Jean-Pierre, was Napoleon’s commanding officer and quickly spotted his abilities.




  So the historic year of 1789 dawned in France, with the nineteen-year-old officer of promise in a provincial posting. His first awareness of tumultuous change came in April,

  when he was ordered to join a small force to put down a gram not in Seurre, twenty miles away. The not was quelled before he arrived, but not before du Teil’s country house had been set on

  fire and mutinous soldiers had seized funds. Napoleon, with his strong sense of discipline, strongly disapproved of this, although he sympathized with the burgeoning Revolution. Napoleon’s

  studies had led him to admire Jean-Jacques Rousseau, who argued that a ‘social contract’ was the sole means by which monarchy could justify itself.




  Although clearly reform-minded, he was horrified when in July the local mob rose up and burned the tax register as well as the offices of a provincial official. The La Fère regiment

  caught the contagion and mutinied against du Teil, forcing officers to submit to indignities. Napoleon and other officers restored order, but he was appalled by the indiscipline and claimed later

  that he was ready to fire upon the mutineers if so ordered.




  Soon afterwards, as the revolt got under way in earnest, he obtained leave again to return to Corsica. It seems almost certain this was the right moment to adopt the mantle of Paoli and launch a

  new war of independence for his country: he saw his future as the island’s leader – not unreasonably, as Paoli was ageing and his father had originally been one of

  his helpers. With the outbreak of the French Revolution, the island had embraced the cause of radical reform and Paoli had been invited back to the island.




  At this stage Napoleon was still torn between loyalty to his own provincial people and the French oppressor which had nevertheless recognized his talents and promoted him. Shortly after his

  arrival a popular uprising had taken place in Bastia, the capital. Napoleon threw himself into the political fray on the island with vigour and on 17 July – shortly after the fall of the

  Bastille – he met his hero face to face: Paoli stooped and white-haired at sixty-six, but still a great bull of a man, arrived in Bastia. Napoleon, who had joined the Ajaccio Jacobin Club,

  became a firm supporter. The local governor complained bitterly that ‘this young officer was educated at the École Militaire. His sister is at St-Cyr and his mother has received

  countless kindnesses from the government. This officer had much better be with his regiment since he spends all his time stirring up trouble.’




  Under orders, he tried to return to the mainland, but appalling weather drove him back and it was not until the end of January 1791 that he reached the mainland with his twelve-year-old brother

  Louis. The boy, far from being impressed by Napoleon’s spartan living quarters at Auxonne, hated them and begged to return to Corsica. Meanwhile Napoleon’s radical views made him deeply

  unpopular with many of his royalist brother officers, who threatened at one stage to throw him into the Saône. He was promoted by du Teil to first lieutenant and sent to the Fourth Artillery

  Regiment at Valence. There he became a member of the Society of Friends of the Constitution, and in July he openly criticized the King’s attempted flight to Belgium. He was in the forefront

  of the sale of confiscated clerical and noble property.




  Along with other members of the nobility he had lost his privileges when the new constitution came into effect, but that had no effect on his enthusiastic support for the document. He took the

  oath to the constitution, although thirty-two officers in his regiment refused. Napoleon has often been accused of pure opportunism. Yet at this time he could not be certain of the outcome of the

  revolutionary struggle in Paris, and few officers shared his views: it was clear that a combination of his own ideals and deep resentment against the aristocracy had turned him

  into a genuine supporter of the Revolution.




  Still confining his ambitions to Corsica, he decided to return with Louis in October. Joseph was there, as was sixteen-year-old Lucien, who resented his small brother, Jérôme, the

  spoilt afterthought of the family, and two of his three sisters, the lovely Pauline and the musical Caroline. He was also present for the death of his miserly uncle, Archdeacon Luciano, aged

  seventy-six, who had kept his considerable fortune in gold coins under the bed. This proved a godsend – Napoleon suddenly, from near poverty, became quite well off.




  With money at last behind him, he plunged into the arcane and insular world of Corsican politics. To avoid having to return to France, he sought election to the local National Guard militia. As

  lieutenant-colonel of this, he became a power in the island. In April 1792 a pro-clerical group sought to hold mass in the dissolved convent of St Francis in Ajaccio and shot one of his soldiers.

  Napoleon wanted to seize the citadel commanding the town from the 400 regular soldiers there, but was refused. Napoleon had the might of the law behind him, but the commanding officer dug in his

  heels and at length emissanes from Paris told Napoleon to calm things down by withdrawing from the town. Napoleon had to travel back to Paris to clear his name in May 1792.




  There an old school friend and he would aimlessly walk across the revolution-torn city, so different from the ordered place he had known in his time at school. On 20 June they followed a large

  crowd pouring out of the huge market of Les Halles, joining up with two more mobs heading for the royal palace of the Tuileries. It was the occasion when the King was forced to put on the red

  revolutionary hat and drink the health of the people. ‘The King came out of it well,’ commented Napoleon, ‘but it is inevitable that this is unconstitutional and a very dangerous

  precedent.’ Napoleon was by now thoroughly disenchanted with the ordinary people. He wrote to Lucien:




  

    

      Those at the top are poor creatures. It must be admitted, when you see things at first hand, that the people are not worth the trouble taken in winning their favour. You

      know the history of Ajaccio; that of Paris is exactly the same; perhaps men are here even a little smaller, nastier, more slanderous and censorious.


    


  




  On 10 August the scene repeated itself as tragedy. As a large mob gathered, singing ‘The Marseillaise’, the new anthem of the Revolution, the King appeared, but was

  booed and withdrew. His lawyer advised that he, the Queen and the royal princes should take refuge in the National Assembly. National guardsmen burst into the palace, scuffling with the 2,000 Swiss

  Guards stationed there. Fighting broke out, and the crowd brought up cannon to shoot into the palace. The King sent orders to the guards not to resist. The crowd swarmed in and massacred them and

  any remaining courtiers. Some 800 were killed, their bodies savagely mutilated, the guardsmen castrated. Napoleon, now promoted to captain, was appalled.




  

    

      Before reaching the Carousel I had been met in the rue de Petits Champs by a group of hideous men bearing a head at the end of a pike. Seeing that I was presentably dressed

      and had the appearance of a gentleman, they approached me and asked me to shout ‘Long live the Republic!’ which you can easily imagine I did without difficulty . . . With the palace

      broken into, and the King there, in the heart of the Assembly, I ventured to go into the garden. The sight of the dead Swiss Guards gave me an idea of the meaning of death such as I have never

      had since, on any of my battlefields. Perhaps it was that the smallness of the area made the number of corpses appear larger, or perhaps it was because this was the first time I had undergone

      such an experience. I saw well-dressed women committing acts of the grossest indecency on the corpses of the Swiss Guards.


    


  




  Napoleon decided to accompany his sister Mane Anne (who called herself Elisa) out of the Paris charnel house and back to Corsica. There he was in for a shock: Paoli, his hero,

  had turned against him. The patriot leader was much more conservative than the reformist young soldier.




  At this stage Napoleon was virtually a complete failure: at the age of twenty-four he was a minor player in a small revolutionary sideshow, his own native island of Corsica,

  about which few Frenchmen spared a thought. All of his grandiose plans had come to nothing: he was captain in an army that had ceased to exist or respected rank, a minor nobleman in a country that

  abhorred the nobility. He thought of becoming a mercenary in India, a country which always seemed to grip his imagination. He was a professional soldier who had never seen active service.




 




     

  




  Chapter 9




  THE CORSICAN




  By 1793, Danton and the new leaders of France, bent on territorial expansion, had decided that the soft under-belly of Europe, Italy, divided into a multitude of states and

  dominated in the north by the arch-enemy of the Revolution, Austria, was a fertile field for conquest. The stepping stone after Corsica was to be Sardinia; and an expedition was assembled under

  Admiral Truguet to take this and intimidate the mainland. Truguet arrived in Ajaccio early in 1793 with a huge flotilla and several hundred troops. Napoleon was only too eager to join the

  expedition, now that his local ambitions had been frustrated by Paoli. Truguet, moreover, fell in love with Napoleon’s sister, Elisa, now sixteen. Napoleon saw the French as potential allies

  in overthrowing Paoli, whom he had come to detest with the hatred of a spurned supporter.




  The latter, nominally in charge of Corsica, suggested that Truguet should attack Cagliari, the capital of Sardinia while mounting a diversionary attack on La Maddalena, an island off the coast.

  Napoleon was placed in charge of this operation, with 600 men in sixteen transports supported by a single warship under his command. The expedition was a disastrous failure from the start: gales

  forced the ships back to Ajaccio and the element of surprise was lost.




  Napoleon led his men into landing on the nearby island of Santo Stefano, capturing the fort there and bombarding La Maddalena. However, having been left on the little island, he was suddenly

  informed that the sailors on the warship had mutinied so that the flotilla had to abandon the venture. Napoleon was very nearly stranded ashore: he struggled down to the beach

  with his guns to find that only a single boat had been sent to fetch him and his men: he had to spike and abandon his guns, narrowly escaping.




  On his return to Corsica at the end of February, the young lieutenant was convinced that Paoli had deliberately conspired to undermine the expedition: for Paoli, who had spent so many years in

  exile in Britain was, Napoleon had come to believe, a British agent. Others had come to the same conclusion: Napoleon’s brother Lucien, then in France, believed it, and so did Christophe

  Saliceti, an old political ally of Napoleon’s who was soon to head a commission of inquiry into events on the island.




  In early March Napoleon was walking in the Place Dona at Bonifacio when a group of students suddenly set upon him, denouncing him as an aristocrat for his care in military dress and his

  insistence on cleanliness aboard the ship on the ill-fated Maddalena expedition: he was nearly lynched before being rescued by some of his volunteers. Napoleon immediately suspected Paoli of

  instigating this murder attempt, and demanded to see him at the Convent of Rostnio. There the veteran guerrilla leader effectively confirmed that he had gone over to the British: the Revolution, he

  claimed, had become too extremist and he had been appalled by the King’s execution. Corsican independence was his revered goal. When Napoleon disagreed, Paoli angrily left him.




  Napoleon switched his support from his former hero to his rival, Saliceti, while the French authorities, alerted to Paoli’s views, ordered the guerrilla chieftain to Paris on pain of being

  outlawed. He refused; and the French government, lacking the resources to mount an expedition to Corsica at that moment, backed down.




  This infuriated Saliceti and Napoleon, who began to intrigue against him. Napoleon was arrested at Corsacci but was helped by friends, and then escaped across country to Ajaccio where, now an

  outlaw, he fled by sea to Bastia. There he persuaded Saliceti to launch an expedition of 400 men and two ships back to Ajaccio. But Paoli’s vengeance was merciless: his supporters burnt down

  Napoleon’s house in Ajaccio and destroyed the Bonaparte farms while Letizia and her daughters fled into hiding.




  Napoleon’s small expedition arrived and he jumped into the water to take his mother and her children aboard. He laid siege to Ajaccio without success and had to sail to

  Calvi defeated and with his entire fortune lost through his recklessness. The Bonapartes were denounced as ‘traitors and enemies of the fatherland, condemned to perpetual execution and

  infamy’ by Paoli. On 10 June 1793, the family, now destitute, set sail for Toulon in France aboard a cargo ship, narrowly escaping capture by the British. Corsica had effectively passed into

  Britain’s hands.




  To a brilliant, highly strung and imperious young man like Napoleon, the whole episode had been character-shaping. He had taken part in his first military engagement, a failure – even

  though his gunnery had been astonishingly accurate, destroying eighty huts and a timber yard as well as setting fire to Maddalena four times. He was quite certain he had been frustrated through the

  negligence of others. Had he been in charge of the expedition, he believed, it would have turned out very differently – which inspired a contempt for authority other than his own. Worse, he

  believed Paoli was behind his humiliation, as well as the later assassination attempt, and he was wary of others (although he was not paranoid: throughout his life he was deeply loyal to his

  friends).




  He had now lost his family fortune and endangered his mother and sisters – a terrible setback for a man born in modest wealth, who then had had to struggle, after his father’s death,

  and had finally emerged reasonably rich again. In addition he considered himself head of the family, and the significance of how he had lost his wealth must have weighed deeply on his young

  shoulders. Finally, and perhaps most significantly of all, he had cast in his lot with revolutionary France. Partly this was a furious repudiation of Paoli with his ‘primitive’ ideal of

  a peasant-led society, and partly from hurt after what he considered to be a ruthless betrayal by his hero. Quite by accident, because of his family’s decision to align itself with the

  French, his own education there and his sympathies with the initial revolutionaries, he had been one of the leaders of the pro-French faction on the island – whereas the independence-minded

  Paoli preferred to align with the British as a much better guarantee of Corsica’s freedom.




  The Italian-descended Corsican, whose earlier intense dislike of the French was evident through jottings of the early twenties, was suddenly a genuine Frenchman whose first

  enemy was the British. Masson puts it with brilliant succinctness: ‘Just as France had made him Corsican, so Corsica had made him a Frenchman.’




  Paoli even encouraged the British to besiege the remaining French positions in Corsica, and then invited George III to become King of the island. Sir Gilbert Elliot was sent in as viceroy, and

  Paoli faded into retirement in England. Consequently Britain now occupied the homeland of what was to become its bitterest foe, although it did not yet know it.




  It is hard to exaggerate the wretchedness of the twenty-four-year-old Napoleon in France during the terrible summer of 1793. Ruined financially, intensely guilty at having let his family down, a

  failure in an uncertain world, with all his academic work come to naught, and just one disastrous military engagement behind him, he was a political refugee from his own obscure island. Letizia and

  her daughters had to be called ‘dressmakers’ on their passports to ensure their safety as former ‘aristos’.




  Toulon was no safe haven, however. A month later there was an uprising and the British under Admiral Hood were allowed to take possession of the port. Napoleon and his family had to flee again.

  Much of the region of Marseilles and Lyon also rose up against the regime, along with most of the country regions of France, particularly in the west: civil war loomed. Letizia and her family moved

  to Marseilles where they were forced to queue for soup from a paupers’ kitchen. It was a terrible fate for a proud and prosperous family, and seared a burning desire for getting even on the

  young Napoleon, brought up in a vendetta society.




 




     

  




  Chapter 10




  TOULON




  For the moment the young officer was desperate to earn money to keep his impoverished family, and immediately rejoined his regiment in Nice. During the next few months he

  performed various military tasks, and was introduced by Saliceti to Augustin Robespierre, a much more amiable man than his brother, with a pretty mistress who immediately took to Napoleon. He wrote

  a work of Jacobin propaganda, which took a sideswipe at the hated Paoli:




  

    

      He ravaged and confiscated the property of the richer families because they were allied to the unity of the Republic, and all those who remained in our armies he declared

      ‘enemies of the nation’. He had already caused the failure of the Sardinian expedition, yet he had the impudence to call himself the friend of France and a good republican.


    


  




  Saliceti also introduced Napoleon to General Carteaux, in command of the siege of Toulon against the English and Spanish occupiers: as the artillery commander had been badly

  wounded, Saliceti had Napoleon appointed in his place.




  It was this penniless young officer’s first real break after the disastrous experience at La Maddalena. He grasped it with both hands. Toulon was defended by some 2,000 British troops as

  well as 7,000 Neapolitans and 6,000 Spaniards, backed up by Admiral Hood’s fleet. Carteaux had 17,000 men who were blockading the city without attacking it. A former career officer of

  considerable vanity with a magnificent horse and sporting a huge black moustache, Carteaux knew virtually nothing about artillery and had just two 24-pound and two 14-pound

  guns. Napoleon immediately set about finding more guns from Antibes and Monaco and built up parapets from which to fire them safely. Soon he had built up his arsenal to nearly 20 guns and mortars

  manned by 1,600 men, in an early burst of his demonic energy. He was promoted to major. Carteaux himself was meanwhile dismissed and imprisoned for incompetence. He was succeeded by Jacques

  Dugommier.




  Dugommier immediately approved Napoleon’s plan for switching the objective of the French attack from the city of Toulon to Fort Mulgrave, a fort known as Little Gibraltar, two miles to the

  south of the city, from which the British fleet could be fired upon at leisure. As the defending troops entirely relied on the fleet for their supplies, Napoleon reasoned that the British would

  have to evacuate their troops from Toulon if they were forced to withdraw the ships under fire. Napoleon brought up a battery of guns close to the fort – the ‘battery of men without

  fear’, as he called it, and for two days and nights the two sides pounded each other – with the young officer present throughout. It was an extraordinary display of bravery for an

  inexperienced young officer, as well as of skill in gunnery, exhibiting the deadly accuracy he had already shown at La Maddalena.




  In December Dugommier, after initial hesitation which nearly resulted in his replacement by Napoleon, led the attack in heavy ram with 5,000 men, Napoleon bringing up the rearguard with 2,000.

  Dugommier’s men were driven back three times before Napoleon attacked: his horse was shot from under him. Undaunted he led two columns and clambered over the first defences with Dugommier,

  passing through the gun recesses, fighting viciously with sabres and bayonets. Napoleon was cut deeply in the thigh and his leg might have been amputated, but the surgeon changed his mind.




  With the guns under French command, the British evacuated ‘like the herd of swine that ran furiously into the sea possessed of the devil’, in Sidney Smith’s phrase, after

  setting the arsenal and the French ships on fire. The port was reoccupied the following day. It was a huge victory for the Revolution as the previous loss of Toulon had fanned the flames of the

  civil war then raging throughout France.




  Some 400 people were promptly executed as collaborators with the enemy. Joseph, the officer responsible, declared blood-curdingly: ‘We have only one way of celebrating

  this victory; this evening 213 insurgents fall under our thunderbolt. Adieu, my friend, tears of joy flood my soul ... we are shedding much impure blood, but for humanity and for duty.’




  Saliceti, the political commissioner in charge, received the credit for the victory, but Napoleon was praised by Dugommier to the skies: ‘I have no words to describe Buonaparte’s

  merit: much technical skill, an equal degree of intelligence and too much gallantry, there you have a poor sketch of this rare officer




  Napoleon was promoted brigadier-general and celebrated by moving his family from the wretched digs in Marseilles to a country house near Antibes. There he relaxed with his two favourite

  siblings, the fifteen-year-old Louis, whom Napoleon praised for his warmth, good health, talent, precision in his dealings and kindness’ and Pauline, both beautiful and sexually alluring

  already at nearly fourteen. His brother Joseph was about to marry an heiress whose father, Francois Clary, had been accused of royalist sympathies and died. One of her brothers had committed

  suicide while another was imprisoned. Joseph had intervened to get the boy freed. Napoleon seems to have fallen out with the revolutionary firebrand Lucien, and the spoilt Jérôme was

  too young to command his older brother’s attention.




  Napoleon had had several promising young officers alongside him at the siege of Fort Mulgrave. Androche Junot, his aide-de-camp, was soon eying Pauline. Several other future commanders were

  present at Toulon, including twenty-one-year-old Geraud Duroc, soon to be Napoleon’s best friend, twenty-five-year-old Louis Desaix, twenty-seven-year-old Louis Gabriel Suchet,

  nineteen-year-old August Marmont and twenty-nine-year-old Claude-Victor Perrin.




  Napoleon was promoted to become artillery commander for the army of Italy, based at Nice, with 15,000 livres a year, impressive pay, even allowing for the rampant inflation of the time. He

  settled eagerly into the job, seeking to break the deadlock in the war against Piedmont, whose army was being supplied by the British through Genoa. Napoleon devised a strategy for an attack on the

  town of Oneglia, although he did not take part in it himself. This proved highly successful.




  He argued for an offensive to capture the western Alpine passes of Col d’Argentière, Tende and St Bernard for a major attack on northern Italy, and was supported in this by his

  friends in Paris, Saliceti and Augustin Robespierre. He was opposed by Lazare Carnot, the member of the Committee who was effectively war minister, who favoured an all-out attack on Spain. Napoleon

  argued that a concentrated attack on Piedmont would force the Austrians to divert troops from the Rhine to defend the passes there, permitting a French thrust in central Europe; but Carnot

  prevailed.




  Napoleon also incurred the wrath of the Committee for seeking to build-up a fort overlooking Marseilles, which he considered potentially rebellious. ‘I am going to position two guns in

  order to curb the town,’ he declared. He was briefly detained under house arrest for insulting the people. This may have reflected concerns even at this stage about his overweening ambition.

  There may have been fears that he sought to control the city for his own or counter-revolutionary purposes.




  In Paris, meanwhile, as we have seen, the fall of the Robespierres on 27 July 1794 marked the end of the Terror. With remarkable alacrity, their friends sought to distance themselves from the

  bloodstained and now bloodied brothers. Saliceti, who was beginning to be jealous of the successes of his protégé Napoleon, came under suspicion himself, and promptly tried to deflect

  the danger by accusing his friend of going off on a suspicious mission to the port of Genoa: in fact it had been a scouting mission. But Saliceti suggested Napoleon may have been depositing French

  gold in a Genoese bank account.




  Napoleon, for his part, rushed to condemn his old friend Augustin Robespierre: ‘I have been somewhat moved by the catastrophe of the Younger Robespierre whom I loved and whom I believed to

  be pure, but were he my brother, I would have stabbed him with my own hand had he aspired to tyranny.’




  Nevertheless he was placed under house arrest for a fortnight, where he made a dignified defence of himself:




  

    

      I abandoned my belongings. I lost everything for the sake of the Republic. Since then, I have served at Toulon with some distinction . . . Since

      Robespierre’s conspiracy was discovered, my conduct has been that of a man accustomed to judge according to principles [not persons]. No one can deny me the title of patriot.


    


  




  Saliceti relented and had Napoleon released. Napoleon’s eagerness to save his own skin, by distancing himself from the Robespierres, does not cast him in a pleasing light,

  but it was understandable in the fevered climate of the time, when the merest suspicion could have brought about his execution. Besides the brothers were dead.




  Although Napoleon was no egalitarian and had little time for Maximihen’s more revolutionary ideas, the young officer certainly imbibed many political lessons from the ruthless Jacobins, in

  particular those of how a small movement, and even one man, could represent the general will of the people, as well as of the utter insignificance of human life in the balance against the general

  interests of the people and state. Previously reasonably humane, Napoleon’s callous streak towards enormous human casualties may date from this period. Now at liberty again, the tireless

  young brigadier-general threw himself into military planning, pressing for his Italian campaign. Carnot continued to overrule this, but told Napoleon instead to plan for a much more limited

  invasion of Corsica.




  The new regime, entitled the Directory, was aptly summed up by Duff Cooper as: ‘The most inefficient, corrupt and contemptible [government] with which any great country has ever been

  cursed.’ Most of them had done well out of the Revolution – black marketeers, speculators, hoarders and those who had bought up church and aristocratic lands at knockdown prices. They

  were hostile both to the Bourbons and the real revolutionaries: they were primarily greedy opportunists. Of these Carnot was initially by far the most substantial.




  Napoleon, although not one of the new men – on his official posting he had been anything but corrupt or wealthy – stood to benefit from the new regime. Although associated with

  Robespierre and the Jacobins, he had quickly severed the connection. He was an officer of energy and ability at a time when France was plunging ever deeper into war and would

  need both. But first he wanted to make his peace with the new regime. There was still little hint of the glittering heights to come in the career of this twenty-five-year-old brigadier; he was only

  one of a number of promising young officers of whom one, Lazare Hoche, was already marked out as France’s greatest revolutionary commander.
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  Chapter 11




  THE APPEASERS




  While France burnt and beheaded, Britain slept. Its prime minister, the thirty-two-year-old William Pitt the Younger, was six years into office when the French Revolution broke

  out, absurdly youthful to be the leader of a well-established power. Yet he showed none of the impetuosity of youth. As a later British prime minister, Lord Rosebery, wrote:




  

    

      While the eyes of all Europe were fixed on Paris, Pitt ostentatiously averted his gaze. He was deaf to the shrieks of rage and panic that arose from the convulsions of

      France. He determinedly set himself, to use the phrase of Candide, to cultivate his own garden and ignore all others. Let France settle her internal affairs as she chooses, was his unvarying

      principle. It is strange to read the uneventful record of the flat prosperous years as they passed in England from July 1789 to January 1793, and to contrast them with the contemporary stress

      and tumult in Europe.




      No English minister can ever wish for war. Apart from the inseparable dangers to our constitution and our commerce, his own position suffers sensible detriment. He sinks into a superior

      commissary; he can reap little glory from success; he is the first scapegoat of failure. He too has to face, not the heroic excitement of the field, but domestic misery and discontent; the

      heavy burden of taxation, and the unpopularity of sacrifice which all war entails. If this be true of every minister, with how much greater force does it apply to Pitt. The task he had set

      himself was to raise the nation from the exhaustion of the American war; to repair her finance; to strengthen by reform the foundations of the constitution, and by a liberal

      Irish policy the bonds of Empire. At this very moment he was meditating, we are told, the broadest application of free-trade principles – the throwing open of our ports and the raising of

      our revenue entirely by internal taxation.




      He required, moreover, fifteen years of tranquillity to realize the fullness of the benefit of his cherished Sinking Fund. His enthusiasm was all for peace, retrenchment, and reform; he had

      experienced the difficulty of actively intervening in the affairs of Europe; he had no particle of that strange bias which has made some eminent statesmen believe themselves to be eminent

      generals; but he had the consciousness of a boundless capacity for meeting the real requirements of the country. Had he been able to carry out his own policy, had France only left him alone, or

      even given him a loophole for abstention, he would have been by far the greatest minister that England has ever seen. As it was, he was doomed to drag out the remainder of his life in darkness

      and dismay, in wrecking his whole financial edifice to find funds for incapable generals and for foreign statesmen more capable than honest, in postponing and indeed repressing all his

      projected reforms.




      To no human being, then, did war come with such a curse as to Pitt, by none was it more hated or shunned.


    


  




  On the day of the storming of the Bastille, Pitt remarked: ‘This scene, added to the prevailing scarcity, makes [France] an object of compassion even to a rival’. By

  October 1790 he was still writing:




  

    

      This country means to persevere in the neutrality which it has hitherto scrupulously observed with respect to the internal dissensions of France, and from which it will

      never depart unless the conduct held there should make it indispensable as an act of self-defence ... We are sincerely desirous of preserving peace and of cultivating in general a friendly

      intercourse and understanding between the two nations.


    


  




  Three months later he declared with astonishing complacency: ‘Unquestionably there never was a time in the history of this country when from the

  situation of Europe we might more reasonably expect fifteen years of peace than at the present moment.’




  In November 1792, less than three months before the outbreak of war, his right-hand man and foreign secretary, Lord Grenville, declared:




  

    

      Portugal and Holland will do what we please. We shall do nothing ... All my ambition is that I may at some time hereafter . . . have the inexpressible satisfaction of being

      able ... to tell myself that I have contributed to keep my own country at least a little longer from sharing in all the evils of every sort that surround us. I am more and more convinced that

      this can only be done by keeping wholly and entirely aloof.


    


  




  Pitt said a week later: ‘Perhaps some opening may arise which may enable us to contribute to the termination of the war between different powers in Europe, leaving France

  (which I believe is the best way) to arrange its own internal affairs as it can.’




  These remarkable statements preceded the French revolutionary decrees of November and December which provided assistance to all peoples who revolted against their governments and which proposed

  French-style revolutionary rule in such territories as Savoy and the Rhine. An assembly of British radicals was warmly welcomed in Paris with the hope that the French would soon be able to

  congratulate a National Assembly of England.




  More extraordinary still, Pitt had actually cut back defence spending in his energetic attempts to place Britain’s finances on a regular footing. In February 1792 he reduced the navy from

  18,000 to 16,000 men, ended the subsidy to Hessian mercenaries, and cut back on army appropriations – although by the end of the year he was forced to raise a militia as a precautionary

  measure.




  Not even Britain in the grip of appeasement a century and a half later bears comparison with the head-in-the-sand attitude adopted by the British towards the French Revolution. The William Pitt

  who was later to become so celebrated as a war minister resembled at this time nothing more than a dormouse terrified of continental entanglement, devoid of any spark of courage

  or vigour. Why did Britain, under an otherwise able prime minister show such blindness?




  The answer lies in a combination of circumstances. Britain’s last experience of war with France, Spain and Holland joining the rebellious American colonies had ended in a defeat on points.

  It had also proved expensive, and Pitt was nothing if not a meticulous bookkeeper when it came to national finances (although oddly enough not his own). Both Pitt and Grenville were deeply wary of

  continental entanglements, and believed they could avoid them through a judicious mixture of alliances and subsidies. Britain, moreover, had undergone a colossal economic, social and demographic

  revolution in the second half of the eighteenth century that was dramatically altering the face of the country, and commerce was booming as never before, in part thanks to the raw materials,

  capital and captive markets provided by the expanding empire. Thirdly, there was a genuine apprehension about the impact of the French Revolution on Britain’s increasingly frayed social and

  political fabric. Yet, even more significant than these political and economic factors were the character and background of Pitt himself.




 




     

  




  Chapter 12




  THE BOY-STATESMAN




  William Pitt the Younger was to be Napoleon’s first, most stubborn and tenacious adversary. It would be hard to think of two more completely contrasting personalities,

  although they were almost of the same generation. Unlike the tempestuous Napoleon, who had been born on an island fighting for national survival and by the age of twenty-five had experienced two

  attempts at assassination, poverty, sudden enrichment, the loss of his family fortune and had fought in one campaign and one minor engagement, Pitt had been born in an atmosphere of aristocratic

  security such as few men have ever experienced, his prodigious intellect and gifts cultivated with the specific aim of rising to the highest position in the land.




  On 28 May 1759, one of the most glorious years in the founding of the British empire, with the triumphs of Goree and Guadeloupe, Minden, Lagos, Quiberon Bay and Quebec still reverberating in the

  ears of Englishmen, a second son was born to the prime minister of the day. The father was a towering intellect, orator and natural leader, William Pitt the Elder, later Earl of Chatham.

  Pitt’s family descended from the governor of Madras in Queen Anne’s reign. His grandson, Pitt’s father, was a manic depressive in a family of seven children, three or four of whom

  were mentally unstable. The family traits were, in John Ehrman’s words: ‘an imperious and often quarrelsome temper, extravagant behaviour and emotion, a marked inability to understand

  other people, and a fundamental simplicity which sometimes gave its possessors a surprisingly sweet and winning charm.’




  William’s mother, Hester, was from an equally distinguished family, the Grenvilles, a methodical, highly cultivated family which boasted George Grenville, the prime

  minister who first tried to introduce disinterested administration into corrupt British government and to set Britain’s finances on a sound footing – and inadvertently triggered off the

  American War of Independence in doing so. The boy Pitt, in short, was descended from two of the greatest political dynasties of the age; and to begin with it seemed his much more stable character

  and penchant for administration derived from his mother. Rosebery wrote:




  

    

      He went into the House of Commons as an heir enters his home; he breathed in its his native atmosphere, he had, indeed, breathed no other; in the nursery, in the schoolroom,

      at the university, he lived in its temperature; it had been, so to speak, made over to him as a bequest by its unquestioned master. Throughout his life, from the cradle to the grave, he may be

      said to have known no wider existence. The objects and amusements, that other men seek in a thousand ways, were for him all concentrated there. It was his mistress, his stud, his dice-box, his

      game-preserve; it was his ambition, his library, his creed. For it, and it alone, had the consummate Chatham trained him from his birth. No young Hannibal was ever more solemnly devoted to his

      country than Pitt to parliament.




      He was destined, at one bound, to attain that supreme but isolated position, the first necessity of which is self-control; and, behind the imperious mask of power, he all but concealed the

      softer emotions of his earlier years. Grief for the loss of his sister and her husband are the only instances of human weakness that break the stern impressiveness of his life. Up to that last

      year when fate pressed pitilessly on the dying man, from the time that he went to Cambridge, as a boy of fourteen with his tutor and his nurse, he seems, with one short interval, to have left

      youth and gaiety behind.


    


  




  The boy was brought up by tutors at home, not sent to Eton as his father had been, and went to Cambridge at the absurdly young age of fourteen. The young man was promptly given

  a rotten borough by a friend of his father, and entered the House of Commons at the age of twenty-one, where he made his maiden speech. Burke observed: ‘It is not a chip

  off the old block. It is the old block itself He sat on the opposition benches. Appointed chancellor of the exchequer by the Earl of Shelburne at twenty-three, he was made prime minister the

  following year after Shelburne’s administration had fallen on the terms of the peace treaty with France, Spain, and America, and the short government of Lord Portland had also fallen. The

  young man was greeted with universal derision. In the event, he presided over Britain for an unbroken eighteen years.




  The early Pitt was an idealistic reformer, pressing for a reform bill which would widen the restricted franchise of the House of Commons, advocating the cause of Catholic emancipation in Ireland

  and appointing the most pro-Catholic British proconsul to date, the Earl Fitzwilliam. He also pressed for economic liberalization – he initially favoured complete free trade from

  Britain’s ports – as well as undertaking a thoroughgoing overhaul of Britain’s public finances. As a personality he was haughty, even priggish, in public, capable of a withering

  sarcasm towards his enemies: in private he was almost childishly affectionate towards his friends, and he loved the children he never had.




  Some later suggested he was homosexual and held such feelings towards the young man later to become his protégé, George Canning; others simply that he was wedded to his job. Two

  formidable women acted as his hostesses – Harriet, his sister, and Jane, Duchess of Gordon, a somewhat masculine and domineering woman. John Ehrman summed up his private character:




  

    

      ‘Kindness and good-humour’, ‘playful facetiousness’; ‘playfulness, urbanity, and good-humour’ – this is from one quarter.

      ‘His laugh – love of fun – playful tricks’: this is from another, less well disposed. Men who had never met him, or come across him only in public, were amazed when they

      caught a rare glimpse of him in private, and his friends, of whatever description, mourned him bitterly when he died ... He was the same with all his intimates; and yet, distrustful of larger

      acquaintance, he seemed unconcerned who his intimates might be.




      But perhaps the answer is suggested by the question: by this very catholicity of affection in one who found it difficult to seek out and choose his friends. Amiable and

      warm, he was happy from the start to take what circumstances offered: shy and haughty, he was unable to take the initiative himself. The family combination of simplicity and pride, the power to

      charm or repel, must have been given a peculiar impress by his upbringing and was set hard by his early fame.


    


  




  Frances Williams Wynn, a contemporary, gave this engaging account of the private man’s antics:




  

    

      I was about sixteen or seventeen when, at Dropmore – where I was with Lord and Lady Grenville only – Mr Pitt arrived for a visit of two days. First, I was

      disappointed in that turned up nose, and in that countenance, in which it was so impossible to find any indication of the mind, and in that person which was so deficient in dignity that he had

      hardly the air of a gentleman . . . From what I then heard and saw, I should say that mouth was made for eating; – as to speaking, there was very little, and that little was totally

      uninteresting to me, and I believe it had been so to everybody ... On the second day arrived Lord Wellesley whom I thought very agreeable; partly, I fancy from his high-bred manners, and still

      more from his occasionally saying a few words to me, and thus making me feel treated as a reasonable creature. After we had retired for the night, I heard from the library, which was under my

      room, the most extraordinary noises – barking, mewing, hissing, howling, interspersed with violent shouts of laughter. I [assumed it was the servants that had come] into the room, and had

      got drunk and riotous; and I turned to sleep when the noise had ceased. Never can I forget my dismay (it was more than astonishment) when next day at breakfast I heard that my wise uncle and

      his two wise guests, whom they had left talking, as I supposed, on the fate of Europe, had spied in the room a little bird; they did not wish it to be shut out there all night: therefore, after

      having opened every window, these great wise men tried every variety of noise they could make to frighten out the poor bird.


    


  




  Wroxall wrote of Pitt:




  

    

      It was not till Pitt’s eye lent animation to his other features, which were in themselves tame, that they lighted up and became strongly intelligent ... In his

      manners, Pitt, if not repulsive, was cold, stiff, and without sincerity and amenity. He never seemed to invite approach, or to encourage acquaintance . . . From the instant that Pitt entered

      the doorway of the House of Commons he advanced up the floor with a quick and firm step, his head erect and thrown back, looking neither to the right nor to the left; nor favouring with a nod

      or a glance any of the individuals seated on either side, among whom many who possessed five thousand pounds a year would have been gratified even by so slight a mark of attention. It was not

      thus that Lord North or Fox treated parliament.


    


  




  Rosebery said his nose was turned up at all mankind. Pitt’s speeches were short and to the point. Fox remarked of him that although he himself was never in want of words,

  Pitt was never without the best words possible.




  The contrast between this snooty boyish bachelor aristocrat with his penetrating command of the House of Commons and iron self-control and his future adversary Napoleon – an emotional,

  voluble, deadly serious professional soldier with a score of lovers – could hardly have been more pronounced. The master politician and the master gunner had only one thing in common: cool,

  detached and analytical minds capable of quick decisions and instant, practical judgements.




  Pitt’s first cousin, his foreign secretary William, Lord Grenville, made an interesting contrast. Unlike the brilliant Pitt, Grenville was a formidable, practical man of great

  administrative ability and domineering temperament. As Pitt’s first cousin and intimate and from one of the pre-eminent political families of the age, he regarded himself as Pitt’s

  equal and spoke to him as such with often brutal frankness. Being older than Pitt, although not as talented, he perhaps harboured some resentment at his young cousin’s seamless rise to the

  very top. But his indispensability to Pitt is clear from the way he remained at his side for eighteen years after joining one of his earliest administrations.




  He had first entered the government as paymaster of the forces, when most senior politicians refused to serve the ‘schoolboy’; indeed Grenville’s own

  powerful older brother, the imperious Lord Temple, who was expected to become leader of the Lords, had at the last minute refused to serve, leaving Pitt in the lurch. The young man had been deeply

  grateful to cousin William for providing Grenville family backing. The two cousins, along with only one other man of substance, Henry Dundas, a deeply corrupt Scottish political fixer of great

  ability but somewhat crude tastes, had had to face the uncertain early years of the administration together, and were bound by close friendship.




  The key to Pitt’s appointment at such an early age had been the support of the King. George III, an intelligent, energetic and conscientious man, although with a callous disregard for

  those who served him even before his descent into madness, had come to the throne desperately seeking to establish the Crown’s power as the lynch-pm of the political system in a country which

  since the arrival of the absentee German-speaking Hanoverians had been a republic in all but name.




  For a while he had tried to rule from behind a tame prime minister, backed by a tough advocate, Lord Bute. This had failed disastrously, never more so than when Bute himself had served as prime

  minister, attracting the scorn of such polemicists as John Wilkes and the anonymous ‘Junius’. After several further attempts, he had secured a loyal prime minister, Lord North, a

  brilliant man at reconciling the demands of King and parliament for twelve years: but North had presided unhappily over the failure of the American War of Independence – largely the

  King’s fault – and had fallen.




  Now the King, as his mind began to totter, was desperate for a more pliant figure and was faced instead by an attempt to take power by the man he most detested in British politics – and

  there were many – Charles James Fox. Pitt had been brought in as the King’s puppet, allying the royal party and country squirearchy in the Commons with his famous name and his

  father’s lingering supporters; but it was far from clear that he would survive the torrent of invective that the experienced and brilliant Fox would unleash upon this pimply youth. Temple

  evidently believed he would not. The young Grenville came to his help to become Pitt’s indispensable right-hand man.




  Modern historians have recognized the steely resolve that was sometimes needed to buttress Pitt’s more petulant personality, as well as the huge grasp of foreign

  affairs and diplomacy that added a necessary world view to Pitt’s innate provincialism. John Ehrman writes:




  

    

      [Grenville’s] talents, his very appearance, were in many ways like Pitt’s. Grenville had the family gift for administration and finance. He had a good mind, a

      strong character and his share of the family pride. He was indeed something of a caricature of his cousin – he really was as steady, as unbending, as industrious as the Prime Minister

      seemed to the world. Lacking any of Pitt’s mercurial brilliance, his influence was perhaps the stronger. Such a character, placed in close contact with a more impressionable one, was

      bound to have an effect; and so it did through a succession of posts ending with that of Foreign Secretary. The influence was liberal in peacetime – the cousins studied Adam Smith

      together – as it was unyielding in war. Grenville was one of the most reliable agents of administrative and financial reform, and the strongest opponent of any idea of reconciliation with

      a republican France.


    


  




  At that stage the important traits of the imperious, good-looking, unbending Grenville were his undying hostility towards the French (Pitt was much more of an

  ‘appeaser’) and his dislike of continental commitments: he saw Britain’s opportunities as lying with the overseas colonies, not continental entanglements. These were to some

  extent contradictory views: but the evidence is that from an early stage he urged Pitt to be more resolute towards revolutionary France, against Pitt’s own inclinations.




  Too many historians have insisted that Pitt was cut from the same fearless cloth as his father, the ‘creator of the British empire’. It is always absurd to see any son as a clone of

  his father. Pitt had as much of the Grenville caution, careful judgement and over-attention to detail as his father’s robustness. And he had come to office after a nearly disastrous

  experience – the American War of Independence, which had destroyed the ministry of Lord North and very nearly wrecked the British empire as well.




  Pitt came to office determined to avoid another such conflict and the King, so quick to react to foreign slights, was also chastened. This led directly to the next few years

  of appeasement towards France, which were certainly not Pitt’s finest hour. Pitt’s reputation has gone curiously unchallenged by later generations – in part owing to his longevity

  as prime minister, in part his own incorruptible personality. Yet while his successes were many, so too were his mistakes, one of which – his initial policy towards France – was to

  prove nearly fatal, and caused his cousin and foreign minister, Grenville, to despair on occasion.




  Pitt was farsighted in seeking to place Britain on a firm financial footing, and providing the excellent administration needed to man the royal navy and the army, because he was seeking

  desperately to avoid the mistakes that had led France to become financially overstretched during the War of Independence and which were to lead to the downfall of the monarchy. In doing so, Pitt at

  the beginning of his ministry proved to be a brilliant domestic minister and a weak and nearly disastrous one in foreign policy – attributes which ironically were nearly to reverse themselves

  in his last years in office. The two main objectives Pitt set himself in his first years in office were the prosperity of the country and to maintain domestic peace. He succeeded brilliantly in the

  first, to begin with, and much more controversially in the second, as unrest threatened while the French Revolution got under way.




 




     

  




  Chapter 13




  PROGRESS AND REPRESSION




  The Austrian Emperor, Joseph II, remarked contemptuously at the end of the American war that Britain had fallen to the status of a second-rate power. That, however, was not how

  it looked from Britain, now under its new young prime minister. In the late eighteenth century, in spite of the American fiasco – and a spate of brilliant British military victories under

  Rodney, Hood and Howe had partially redeemed that – Britain was overwhelmingly the most powerful country in Europe economically, sustained by a huge and prosperous empire and undergoing a

  creative renaissance.




  Political stability at home; imperial revenues generated from abroad; a sudden surge in agricultural income provided by land enclosures; and later, the final key ingredient, the breakthrough in

  innovation and technology provided by the Enlightenment and advances in science – all these conspired to create a great leap forward in British society that has had no parallels before or

  since. The aristocracy shared the good fortune with a new moneyed class in a field of the cloth of gold of dazzling cultural and intellectual life.




  The agricultural and industrial revolutions began to transform the appearance of Britain. As the downside, however, the new urban masses that were to provide the labour pool for the

  world’s first industrialized society were huddled into crowded, insanitary terraces. Only the need to unite against an external enemy and the comparative liberalism of Britain’s

  political system would prevent this powder keg of misery from exploding in the early part of the following century.




  In France and other eighteenth-century continental systems, while faction struggles raged at court, these were largely in secret, neither corresponding to the real balance

  offerees in the country as a whole, nor providing a safety valve for discontent. Nor was debate confined to the ranks of the aristocracy and la haute bourgeoisie, as in France; for while the

  British aristocracy certainly fought to retain its influence, its real power had been diluted in the struggles of the previous century by the much larger middle class of country squires, urban

  merchants and professionals.




  In the parliamentary maelstrom, monarch, lords and commoners battled it out, now one gaining the upper hand, now another, none succeeding in imposing his will for long. After the reign of the

  Whig grandees had ended with the installation of the Hanoverians, Sir Robert Walpole, bourgeois, stolid, cunning, a machine politician, and his successors Pelham and Newcastle, had ushered in the

  new political age.




  In turn the newly ennobled Grenvilles and ‘commoner’ Pitt – ‘issue politicians’ in an almost twentieth-century mould – came to dominate the stage, vying with

  the remnants of the old Whig aristocracy represented by the Duke of Devonshire and the Marquess of Rockingham, and the newly assertive ‘court party’ of George III, represented by the

  cack-handed Marquess of Bute and, later and more successfully, by Lord North. The system embraced most dissent: it is scarcely surprising that it became the age of oratory, for rarely have

  political leaders felt so free to express their own viewpoints, unhindered by fear of official reprisal, or by the harsh disciplines of the party machine.




  The vitality of parliamentary debate was but one of the lasting innovations of the eighteenth-century system. Another was the way in which general elections – although most of the seats

  went uncontested or were in the gift of political bosses – actually mattered. Governments could be undone and were unseated by the verdicts of limited electorates in the small number of

  contested seats. Public opinion, however restricted the franchise, had real influence.




  A third key new feature was a massive extension in the power of the press. The vigour and vitriol of press and pamphlet attacks in the eighteenth century would shame tabloid newspapers today:

  rarely in human history can political issues have been aired so freely, with such crude vigour and character assassination.




  The test case for press freedom was, of course, the struggle of John Wilkes in his often scurrilous attacks against not just the King’s favourite, Bute, but the

  monarchy itself. Initially dragged off to the Tower in 1763, Wilkes was freed after middle-class and mob’ uproar, discredited and then exiled. He returned in 1768 to secure election for

  Middlesex. When the government had him expelled from the Commons and fined for obscene libel, he was tumultuously re-elected while noting spread, leading to the killing of twelve demonstrators by a

  company of grenadiers.




  In 1769, Wilkes was again unseated, and disorder reached a crescendo, effectively bringing down the mediocre government of the Duke of Grafton, and ushering in the more pragmatic and skilful

  North ministry. The Wilkes agitation gradually subsided, not least because, although a gifted polemicist, he was no public speaker, nor even a real revolutionary. But his virulent journalism showed

  just how far the limits of press freedom now extended, and the vigour of the parliamentary debate about his own fate made it impossible for him to mobilize opinion against ‘the system’

  – even if he had wanted to do so.




  The nearest equivalent of a Danton or Robespierre in England had been, in the end, more of an Irish rogue, and not one to bring the constitution down. The Wilkes nots never posed the threat to

  the body politic that revolution did in France twenty years later. The system had shown that it could respond – indeed Wilkes had brought down a government – and the challenge gradually

  faded, after securing its greatest triumph: the right to report parliamentary debates in the press.




  If Britain was politically vibrant and mature, it was also endearingly and dottily obsessed with precisely the same sorts of issues that preoccupy the British chattering classes to this day. The

  conduct of the royal children was a national obsession. Aristocratic scandals were highlighted by the press, from the trial of the Duchess of Kingston for bigamy, to that of Lord Baltimore for rape

  (he was found to have been set up by the victim’s family), to the rakish life of Lord Lyttleton, and to the indiscretions of the dazzling young Duchess of Devonshire.

OEBPS/html/page-template.xpgt
 

   
    
		 
    
  
     
		 
		 
    

     
		 
    

     
		 
		 
    

     
		 
    

     
		 
		 
    

     
         
             
             
             
             
             
             
        
    

  

   
     
  





OEBPS/html/docimages/cover_ader.jpg





OEBPS/html/docimages/image10.jpg





OEBPS/html/docimages/image11.jpg
[The Battl of Salamanca, 22 July, 1812

- e
ol oo S






OEBPS/html/docimages/image14.jpg
£101101






OEBPS/html/docimages/image12.jpg





OEBPS/html/docimages/image13.jpg
[The Battie of the Nations a Leipzig, 16-19 October, 1813)

% S
/ Bl
GRaND DY

e WA

AUSTRIAN

EMPIRE






OEBPS/html/docimages/image4.jpg





OEBPS/html/docimages/image3.jpg





OEBPS/html/docimages/image6.jpg
Partof A tsiand






OEBPS/html/docimages/image5.jpg
[The Battle of the Nile B






OEBPS/html/docimages/image8.jpg





OEBPS/html/docimages/image7.jpg





OEBPS/html/docimages/image9.jpg
[The Battle of Aspern and Essting] fiona730im oy 20 109






OEBPS/html/docimages/image2.jpg
Napoleon's Advance on Lodi, May 1756]

DucHYOF

RerusLIc )






OEBPS/html/docimages/image1.jpg





